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COURT OF GENKR AL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE,
=

City and County of New York, Part V. re 263 6
- "

|
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK,
Before;
HON,THOMAS C,T,CRAN,J.,
Md a Jury,

~gzainst- ~

B S8 B0 8e 46 e

LUDWIG BRALL,

5

New York, January 6th, 1916.

The defendant is indicted for manslaughter in the first
degree. -

Indictment filed November 12th,61915.

Appe ar anc e 8:
For the People: GHRORGE N, BROTHERS, Esq., Assistant District
At torney.
For Dfendant: WNARK ALTFR, ESQ., { Abrsham Levy, of counsel,)

A jury is duly impaneled and sworn.

¥Mr. Brothers opens the case for the People to the

Jury.




PECPLE'S C ASE,

IR. OTTO Ho SCHULTZE, awitness called on behalf
of the People, being first duly sworn, testified as follows:
DIRECT EXA/INATION BY MR, BROTHERB‘:

Q Dr. Schultze, you are a physician and surgeon, are you?
A Yes, sir.

Q Graduated from what institution of learning? A ¥From the
college of Physicians and Surgeons, New York city.

Q Mmd when was that? A June, 1889,

Q Since then you have been practicing your profession, and
have been duly licensed, and so forth, in this State? A Yes.

Q You occupied for how many years the position of physiciam
to the Coroner? A In 1896 and 1897, when it was a county office,
and from December 1902 to April, 1915, when it was a Borough
of fice.

MK, LEVY: Pardonme, I will tske the Doctar's
qualifications as to learning and ability,

Q Doector, in last November you were the medical assistant
of the Distriet Attorney of this County, as you are today?

A Yes, sir.

Q Dpid you as such official mske an autopsy upon the body
of a Chinanan named chung Wing? A I did.

Q When was that, the exact date? A On the morning of Noveme
ber 2nd, 1915, at the Mortuary, foot of East 2th street, New

York.
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 Was there any police officer there who identified the
body to you? A There was.
Q Who was he? A There were two police officers, George Peat-
tie, and Cornelius J. McKenna. ‘
MR. EDWARDS: Is Officer Peattie here?®
(M of ficer stands up.) -
Q Is that the of ficer standing up? (Indicating police

officer) A Yes, Shield 7050, Officer Peattie.

]

) SPAre

This Chinaman was dead when you saw him? A Yes.
Q You examined his body? A Ye:.
Q Will you tell the jury what you saw? A It was the body
of a Chinsman,

MR, LEVY:  Pardon me, What time, may I inquire, was
it that the autopsy was pex:rormed? A The morning of
November .2nd, 1915.

MR, LEVY: The point of the interruption is to ase
certain whether the body of the deceased was in the same
condition it was when he was lifted from the ground on
Third avenue, on the lst day of November. A day elapsed
between the day of the autopsy and the day of the alleged
assault, and I want to be sure that the condition of the

. man was the sane when Dr. Schultze made his examination
and autopsy, and as it was immediately after the assault.
BY MR. LEVY: ¢ }\///
Q Are you gble to tell us about that, Doctar? A Yes,

Q Whether it was or not? A It must have beem the sané, He
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died on the morning of November lst, at 6:15 a. m., if my memory
serves me correctly, and after being pronounced dead, was placed
in cold storage, f_or the preservation of his body. f!o died in
Bellevue Hospital. After death, after being pronounced dead, his
body was taken to the Mortuary, and placed in the cold storage

vault.

Q That was a period of more than twenty-four hours af ter

his death? A The autopsy, yes. It was later than six in the
moming. I presume it was somewhere between ten in the morning
and twelve noon, .
¥R. LEVY: ALl right.
BY MR. BROTHIRS: i
Q You may answer, Doctor? A The body was that of a poorly

nourished Chinaman. His height was five feet, eight and a

half inches. That was measured. His weight was estimated to be
about 140 pounds., His right elbow joint was fixed with the
forearm at right angles to the elbow, and had upon the outer
surl ace of the elbow the scar of a former operation, upon the
elbow joint. (Indicating) A short distance from the wrist on
the right arm, about three inches from the wrist, there was a
bruise on the back surface of the right forearm (indicating),
the measurement of which was one inch in length by a quarter of
an inch in width, The forehead showed .six amall bruises. One
was directly over the root of the nose and measured a quarter
of an inch., Alother was over the left brow, three gquarters of

an inch frum the middle line of the forehead. That measured
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an eighth of m inches Mmother bruise was located two inches te
the left of the middle line and one inch above the left brow,

'
'
g

‘That measured a quarter of an inch. Another bruiseé was located
one inch to the right of the middle line¢, and one inch above ' F
the right brow, that measured three-eighths of an inch, hwthcr’?
bruise was located two inches to the right of the middle line,
and one and a half inches sbove the brow; that measured a
quarter of an inch. And another one nearly in the sane line

and about one inch fram the brow, and measured one quarter of

an inch also. There were six bruises in all on the forehead.

On the back of the head was a jacerated and bruised scalp wound,
the measurement of which was one and a half inches by a half

inch., That was located over the outer angle of the occipital

bone, on the right side. That would be here (indicating b ack

of head): Underpeath this scalp wound there was a blood
tumor on the scalp as the result of the wound, and going downe
ward fran the wound, t'rough th.e skull, there was a trnturen
that passed through the base of the skull on the right side, and
crossed there to the ﬁwe of the skull and went through the roof
of the left orbit; that is the cavity containing the left eye.
The front of the brain, back of the forehead was laou"sted on
both sides, chiefly on the left, and also the front of the

two lobes of the brain that are located in the middle of the
~

}

base: of the skull, or the temporsal lobes, There was a laccration

of both of them, but more marked on the left side. .¥rom these




lacerations of the brain hemorrhage had c aused within his skull
compression of the brain. The rest of his organs showed, ' the
lungs showed adhesions at the top of the lungs from former
tuberculosis,
The kidneys were not entirely healthy. The surface was

granulated. He had the beginning of chronic Bright's Disease.
His stamach contained food, pu't.ially digested rice and vegetsbles.

) Did you form an opinion, Doctor, from your examinatiom, as
'to the cause of his death? A I did.
| Q What was that opinion, with reasonable certainty? A A frac-
ture of the skull, laceration of the brain, canpreleio?:‘of the
brain with the blood resulting from the hemorrhgge from the
lacerated brain.

Q Assuming that the man had been struck a blow with a fist

80 that ha fell heavily to the paiement, would that case the
condition you found, in your opiniony
MK, LEVY: That is objected to,
THE COURT: Objection sustained.
) What would be a competent producing cause for such frace
ture of the skull as you found?
MR. LEVY: I obJect to that as incompetent, imma~
terial and irrelevant.
THE COURT: Alloqu.
MR, LEVY: Exception,
A Violent contact of the back of the head with a hard sub-

stance. ‘ !




@ The condition of his right elbow that you describe, was
that a stiffened condition? A It was what is termed ankylesis,
absolutely stiff. It could neither be brought down or bent up,
it was permanently fixed.

Q Was that the condition t&t existed during the lifetime
of the individual? A Yes.

Q You. could determine that fram your examination? A Oh, cer-
tainly. s

), You sgy there was a scar there as though a ;urgiod opera~
tion had been performed before that? A The scar was there as
the result of an operation that had beem done for a di.IC..‘
Joint; that is, taken out of a diseased arm, and in healing,
the forebone healed at right angles to the arm,.

Q These small contusions about the eye and nose, were .they
such as could have been caused by the bresking of spectacles Kor
eye-g';luaaés by a blow? A They were,

) They were amall? A They were.small, as described.

KR. BROTHERS: That is all,

CROSS EXA/INATION BY 'ﬁ. LEVY:

I want to know sbout the left arm: that was in good working
order, wasn't it? A '1;;'. sir, as far as one could tell from a
dead armj; presumably in good working order during life,

Q There was not anything to interfere during the lifetime of
= /

the deceased with the use and operation of his left hand end am,

. and foreearm and upper am? A None whatever, *




9

g

Q Now, them, did you observe the man's legs and feet? A I
did.
(), Were they, to use the expression, in good working order
during his lifetime, do you believe? A surely,
. Nothing to interfere with the mam kicking,if he wanted to?
A Nothing whatevers
Or stanping upon @ny ome? A lothing whatevers

KRe LEVY: That is all,

GEORGE J., PEATTIE, (Ast Precinct) called as a
witness for the People, being first duly sworn, testifies as
follows:
DIRECT EXAINATION BY XR. BROTHERS:

Of ficer, you are a member of the Police Force of this
city, are you? A Yess

Your badpge number is 70507 A 7050,

Are you the policeman who identified this body that Dr,
ichultze spoke about? A Yes,

How long have ycu been a member of the police force? A Ten
years snd three months,

Q In November, more especially thé¢ lst day of November, last

year, you were in what precinct? A The 2lst Precinct.

Docs t.hat/ take in Third avenue, betweeh 15th and l4th
streects? A Yes, sir,

Were you on duty on that day at that place? A Yes, sir,

Q On that occasion did you see the def endant? A Yess




Q What time was it when you saw him? A 2:25 a. m.
Q That was the early morning then of November lst, 19157
A Yes,

Q When you first caught sight of the defendant where were

you yourself? A Standing at the corner of l4th street and Third

avenue, the nor thwest corner.
Q How long had you been standing there? A I don't suppese I
was there over a minute or two minutes at the most. |

( Where had you come from? A I came from 15th strect,

Q Your post was what? A From 14th strect to 1l6th street,
teking in the side strects, half a block on 15th strect end
16th strect, on the south side of 1l6th street.

Q But you did not go either "qy on l4th street? A No, only
to 1l4th street,
| Do I understand then, you had a few noments before you
saw the def endant come south on tha west side of Third avenue?
A Yes., s

. Mo you know wvhere the Chinese restaurant was that the de-
ceased Chung Wing had? A Yes.

Q VWhereabouts was that? A TLoc a%ed in 134 Third avenue, up-
stairs. £

That was in what part of the block? A Just about in the
middle of the blocke.

Q Between what strects? A Between 1-4th and 15th,

Q Had you come by there om your journey dowm to the cornery

i < T




A Yes,
() When you passed that place were there people upon the
strect? A Noe
() Was there any one on the sidewalk in front of that rese
taurant? A No one at all. .
Did any one attract your attentic;; as you p asssed the rese

-

tarant? A Nothinge _

When you were upon the corner at the time you saw the de-
fendant, were you alone? A Noe. I met Officer Sioge.l;Jul‘t as I
got to the corner he reached the corner,

7id you notice where he had come from? A I met hm at the
corner, jJust as I got there; I suppose he came from l4ith street.

‘What attracted your attention as you stood on the corner,
to the defendant? A There was a loud noise, loud talking up
Third avenue. I turned amd locked up Third avenue and observed
three Chinamen on the sidewalk, and two white men,

hereabouts on the sidewalk were they? A Right vut ui'w‘
front of 134,

That would be the west side of the avenue? A The west
side of the avenues

M w locked toward tham what were these five men doim
A M I first observed them tliey were all st ading on the side-
walk, tulking loudly. We started to walk up there whem the tw

white men, and twopf the Chinamen started in e altercation,

started fighting with each other,

n | = 0T
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MR, LEVY: That is objected to; let him describe
it,. \
THE coURTi strike it out,

Q What did they do with their hands and feet? A They
started to strike with their hands at each other; with their
hands and feet at each other; with their hands at each other,

Q The two Ghinamen and two white men? A Yes.

{ What did the third Chinamen do? A The third Chinansmn
was standing at the curbstone, about seven or eight feet from
the other two Chinamen and two white men, and wheg they started

to hit with their fists at each other, he started to holler,

Q Cen you tell us anything that he hollered? A I could ~

not distinguish just what he said, only he hollered,

Q Was he hollering in a low woice or loud? A Kind of a
squesaky voice,

Q What were yvu doing at that time? A Running towards
where the men were,

A8 you ran towards them what did you observe? A VWhen I
got about fifteen feet from them, the defendant,Ludwig Brall,
turned fram one of the Chinamen he was striking -- that is, they
were mixed up together, -- he'tumed and struck him, stepped
over and struck the chinaman standing at the curd yelling,
struck Him in the face, knocking him to the streect,

( You were then @out fifteen feet away? A When he turned

.

and struck at him,
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Q At the time the defendant struck this Chinaman by the curbd *
what was the Chinaman doing? A He was stmding, yelling.

- Q Did yoﬁ'ua him make any move towards the def endant? A No.

Q Or strike the defendant? A I did not see him,

Q@ Or kick him? A I did not see him make any move at all,

Q Can you show the jury the manner in which the defendant
struck that blow? A (The witness steps.down fram the witness
stand) The Chinaman was standing on the curb there, and they
were off this way (1nd1c.nt1ng). When this man was hollering,
he left the Chinamen that he was striking at, the two of them

together, and turned and struck like that (VWitness swings his

right arm from right to left), and hit the man in the fece,
. knocking him to the strect,

 When the Chinaman landed on the street, where_abouts did
he land in respect to the spot he had beoa-: standing on; how far
away? A His head struck about ten feet from the curbstone.

Q@ That is, the blow carried him out? & Yes, so his head
struck about ten feet from the curbstone,

How did he strike? A On the back of his head.

, Did he get up? A No, he never moved.

Q What did the defendant do? A He started to run,

q In which Alpession? A Bight in ny divestiss

b ~outh? A He ran south,

Q What did you do? A I grabbed himj; He ran right inte

, -
me.
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Q Were you in uniform there? A Yes.
Q Did you have an opportunity to observe what thée other de-
fendant was doing at that time?
MR, LEVY: There is no other def endant.
‘;a I will amend th:té the brother of the def endant? A The
brother, he was fighting with the other Chinamen.
Q What became of him? A He started to run too., Officer
Siegel ran after him and‘oaught him,
Q Did Siegel accampany you up the avenue when you started up?
A Yes, we started up toge\ther.
What did you do with the def endant when you stopped him?

A When we got to the def endant Of ficer Siegel and I brought

the two of them to where the Chinaman was lying in the street,
end I turned him over, I said, "This man is badly hurt®, teo
Of ficer Siegel.,

Q A8 you loocked at the Chinaman as he lay on the pavement,
How did he look? A Therec was blood corning from his nose and
his mouth, and there was bloo:l"atreaning{do m f.m back of his
head, and there was a gurgling sound from his throat.

Q Meking a noise in his throat? A Gurgling his throat.

Q Did you pick him uwp? A Neo, just turped him onr.‘z I
said to Officer Siegel, 'G;ve me the other prisoner, you gall
an gnbulmoe.'

» That was done, the ambulance came and he was tsken to the

hospital? A Yes,
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Q Did you see his body again? A Yes,
Q At the morgue? A Yes,
Q You identified it to pr. Schultze? A Yes.

Q And the body you showed to Dr. Schultze was the same

gl ool

Chinaman you Saw on the pavement at the time he was felled? A}Ql.

( He was dead when you saw him in the Morgue? A Yes.

Q Did you pick anything up there on the strect? A Yes. I
picked up a part of his glasses,

Q Have you brought them here? A Yes. (Producing articles).

Q Did you know the deceased? A I have seen him there a few

}.mel, going back amd forth,

) =fou were on post there? A Yes, I was on post there., I
was transferred to the precinct on the 27th day of Sep tember,
and I was on post there from the 28th,

Q In going up and do sn there you had kn_ovm the deceased
by sight? A Yes.

Q Was he a man that wore spectacles? A Yes, he wore

Q
rlasses.

Q Dd you observe anything else peculiar about him? AI
noticed he was a very fecble kind of aman, erippled in the am.

MR. LEVY: I move to strike it out,
THE COURT: agtrike it out.

(Q Wad there amything peculiar about his sppearamce? A One

arm' he carried stiff,

§ These articles that were picked up, the dbridge and part
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of the ear-piece, you found those where? A I found those
right alongside of the body.

) Did you see any broken glass or lenses? A Yes, they al
lay on the ground there,

MR, BROTHERS8: I offer these articles in ovtdolncco
MR, LEVY: Objected to as incompetent, irrelevant amd
immaterial,
THE COURT: Received,
MR. LEVY: Exception,
- T}éh&é%&%e:a marked People's exhibit 1 in evidence..)

Q Officer, what is the pavement on Third avenue, at the
point where the deceased fell? A It is Belgian block.‘

That was 80 on the morning of November 1st last? A Yes.
BY Mk. BROTHERS:

Q Dnid you remain there until the ambulance came? A No,
When patrolman Siegel returned a large crowd collected, and
Of ficer McKenna, he cane upon the scene, As the neighbore
hood is rather a bad neighborhood around there I said to Offi=
cer MoKenna, "Siegel and I will taeke the prisoners to the sta
tion house,*

Tell me where the station house is? A East 22nd street,
between First and Second avenue.

) So that you went away and left MoKenna in charge? A Yes.
To bring in the tw Chinsmen, and to get the ambul ance report,

Q The other two Chinamen who were there in this fight, did
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they go to the station house? A They were brought in by Of figer
VeKenna. |

Do you see them in court? A Yes,

where? A Those two men sitting there (indic ating two
Chinemen in the court room),

L Vet are theid nametl . A Tus 8% @i 8 Ses
BY THE COURT:

{ Did you have any talk with the defendant on the way to the
station house? A I asked him what was the matter, what was the
truub;o. His brother said there was some trouble over a box
of gigretul, and the brother told him not to talk, He sald,
*"We will talk when we get to the st ation house,"

BY MR. BROTHERS:

Q Ater you amrived at the station house was th;re my talk
had between you or betweem anybody and the defendant that you
ovlr—hoarthv}gen they arrived at the station house, and we
arralgned them at The desk, before the lieutenant, the defendant
wanted to make a charge of assault against Lum Du,

Thut is one of those Chinamen in court? A Yes, He sald
he had "ni}tm;n the head. The lieutenant wull not entertaim it.
He told him if he had any complaint to meke, to mske it in court
next morning, as they were all ﬁeld, a8 they wereé all going to
court,.

T
@ That is, to n.nlfe'it in the police court? A Yes, .

Q Was anything else sald before the desk? A Nothing slse,

-
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Q. !h.t was the condition of the defendant at that time that

you l-”hhn. what was his c';ondition as to sobriety? A Perfeotly
sober. .
Q About how old a man was the deceased, Chung Wing? A Well,
he was a man I should judge around == .
MR, LEVY: This is only guess wark and I obj;et.
EHE COURT£ Objection sustained.

KR, BROTHERS: I think that is all,

CROSS EXAINATION BY MR. LEVY:

Q Now, Officer you are thoroughly faniliar with that neighe=

borhood? A Yes. .

Q What kind of a night was it, or, rather, moming? A The

morning was a clear morning.

} Try? A The pavemert was drye.

Q It was in November and day had not broke? A No, not yet,

. The illumination on the s.treet was still there? A Yes.
0 How 18 that part of the City, light or dark; partioul arly
that-block? A It is 1it up pretty well arvund there. There
are a number of lights outside of the buildings.

Are lights? A Arc lights and signl asross the street,

Q The light is contributed to by the different privltol lights?
A Yes. ,

0 Md the different business places along there? A Yes. rﬂ\

Q How far would you sa&y, fram the corner of 1l4th street, was

the location of the Chinese restaurant? A I should Judge it is

\




1, , »

""sbout between 125 and 150 toe‘t; probably 130,

Q Certainly a greater distance than the length of thit
court room? A Yes, .

Q Perhaps twice as long? A Well, probably nearly twice as
long. “ ’

Q In front of that Chinese restaurant there is a lamnp or
sign, m advertisement, or was there at the time? A The doore
way of that place is lit; inside there was a large light.

Q A sort of veafibule door, and stairs to ascend? A In-
side there are stairs going up. 2

4

Q You had been patroling from 15th street down on the west

side of the avenue? A Yes.

Q@ Md you finally reached the corner? A Yes.

 When you got to the cornmer, you got into conversatiom
with your fellow officer? A Just met him at the corner.

Q You exchanged some words together, did't you? You and
he? A I Just met him at the corner,

Q Then you heard the sounds of loud talking? A Yes.

) Now, on ZThird avenue at that location there is the elevated
road? A Yes.

Q There is a station of the elevated road, both up and
dom-town sides? A Yes,

Q Md the station of the elevated romd at l4th ltre_et and
Third avenue runs partly up towards 15th streect, doesn't it?

A Yes,
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Q And partly down towards 13th strect? A Yes.
o

Q And at frequent intervals the trains would q“ane, the

elevated trains would pass up and dowm? A Oh, yﬁ\-.
Q In addition to that, underneath the elevated structure, thero
is a surface line? A Yes, sir, \

Q With an up and down-town track, is that righ\?? A Yes.

Q Now, then, the intersection of Third avenuo\ d}ml l4th street
is very busy, isn't it? A Yes, at certain times. ‘

 And there are cross town cars that g\x\n east dd west through
14th strect? A Yes. {

Q Surface cars? A Yes. |

\ Besides that, ar und that neighborhood there q'e some

hack stations are there not? A No, not there. |

( Or automobile stations? A No, sir, ]

) Or taxicab stations? A Not in that location.[

Isn't there a station there for hacks or taxis? A There
are stations over in Irving place, “
Around 1l4th st}‘eet? A One block ow‘lr.

Q Now, then, of course, most of the Jjurors hw? passed there
but I an ask ing these questions so as to meke a rac(}‘brd and to
show the condition as it existed there. QThe -tur(;lw that
leads up to the elevated road on the west side of jhe avenue,
that is the downtowm stalrwgy? A Yel.. |

Q Leading up to the downtown side of the utatijan? A It

leads from l4th street, : ‘7 .

]




Q Where does it start, on l4th street or on the avenue?

A On l4th street,

T Q Md likewise upon the other side of the street there is
another stairway which leads up to cover the uptown track? A .
Yes,

Q 14th strect and Third avenue is generally a pretty well
congested neighborhood, isn't it? A @t certain times in the dey
and early in the evening, up to probably midnight.

Q Even in the nighttime? A Till one o'clock or so,

Q Do you mean to say after one o'clock it "goes to sleep™?
A It doesnot go to slecp down there, but we have not very much

excitement there now.

Q Not much excitement from a police standpoint, perhsps,
but there a&re a good many pedestrians passing up and down the

street? A Quite a number of people,

Q Some people forget to go to slecp down there? A Yes, we
have numbers of them,

Q Now, upon that morning it was clear; there was the usud
traffic on the street? A The usual traffic during the night,
. Q It does not take long in that vicinity to hae a crowd
gather, does it? A No.

Q A crowd gathers very quickly fram all sections c'oundv that
neighborhood if there is aything unusual happens? A At that
time of the morning, probably you c¢can gather a crowd of fifty

or & hundred people in a short time,
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Q In a souple of minutes? A In probably ten minutes,vafter

they get out of the places that they hang out in, if it is ex~
eiting enough.

Q A man would not have to yell for ten minutes to gather a
crowd, would he; any unusual axcitement or noise would attract a
crowd and bri;é them there almost immediately? A Not in that
section; they don't go until they know there is something r;ll
bad going on., They are g?nerally getting out of the way that
time.

Q But a crowd did gather in that neighborhood? A Yes,

Q How socon after the loud talking was it that the crowd
gathered? A The crowd did not gather until shortly before

Patrolman Siegel came back from calling the ambulance, probably

five minutes,

Q You don't mean to say, in that neighborhood around 2 o'clock
in the morning, or 2:30 in the morning, that a man with a shrill
voice, erying out, hollering, would not almost immediately at-
tract' a crowd of these people who are about the place, and pedes~-
trians or other habitues around and about that place? A They
would not attract much attention around there, except a police
officer; he is the only one to take any notice of exceptional
noises, They don't pay much attention to it,

Q Or even if there is any excitement or commotion? A Unless
they see somebody running.,

Q Are you able to say whether or not, on your way down on

your patrol from 15th street to 14th street on the west side of
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the avenue, any surface cars passed either up or down the avenue?
A I would not say that there was any surface car passed,

Q What would you say about the passing of an elevated train?
A I don't remember of any elevated passing there,

Q You will not say that any did or did not? A I will not
say either way, I did not take any notice.

Q Your eyes were upon the surface? A Mostly.

Q Are ycu able to tell ﬁi- Honor and the jury how many stores

o

or buildings there are intervening between the corner, the north-

west corner of l4th street and Third avenue, and the location
of that Chinese restaurant? A There are four, I beliovﬁ.

Q Are you able to tell what those four buildings were occupied
for at that time? A Yes.

Q Tell me, A The corner store 1is occupied as a saloon by
O'Keefe & Cunningham. That is on the northwest corner,

Q Tﬁat was on the west side of the avenue? A Yes,

Q That is the northwest corner? A Yes,

Q That corner store runs around the corner? A Yes,

Q And extends a distance of, I should say, about 25 feet on
the avenue? A Yes, they have a little more than that on the
avenue,

Q Wnat do you say is the distance? A Probably their store
front is probably about 30 feet,

Q Well, there is what is known as a family entrance from the

—

avenue into that saloon? A Yes,:
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Q With a sort of projecting doorway? A Well, the same as
they usually have in saloons, It is just a little jog in their
building, about probably one and a half or two feet out,

Q Put there is a projection? A Yes, just a l;ttlc.

Q Eitondipg té‘whnt we call the stoop lincg A Yes,

Q Now, at that time in the morning == throw back your recol=
lection to the morning of this oocurrenéé; did they have any
inside light burning in that saloon? A Yes,

Q Were they in the window or in the saloon proper? A In
the saloon »nroper,

Q They were simply lights for the purpose of protection; it
was after the closing hour? A Yes,

Q They had the lights to show that business was not being

done in the place? A Yes.

Q And threw out no light on the sidewalk? A The light in
the doorway is enough light.

Q What kind of light did they have in the d?or? A There
is electric lights in the store,

Q They did not have the light around the windows outside?
A Yo, not outside,

Q But there was a doorway which people used when that place
was 1it up? A Yes,

Q So that there were shadows cast upon the sidewalk? A There
is a 1light on the corner,

Q But shadows are cast upon the sidewalk there? A No, I
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would not say that, because it is quite light,

Q Is there an arc lgght on that northwest corner of Third
avenue and 14th street? A There is a fire light,

Q You kngw what I meen by arc light? A Yes.

Q 1Is there such a 1ight? A The light is on the other corner,

Q Where is the lamppost, or as we will call it, where is that
electric light, located? A There is a lamppost right on the
corner, on the Third avenue side, north of the crossing, on the
14th street corner,

Q That is the lamﬁpont which has the red glass? A No, The
red glass is out on the corner; on the corner is the red light,
indicating a fire box, bdbut tﬁere is an arc light just north of

the crossing on the Third avenue side.

Q That is underneath the station, ign't it? A No, the
station part does not ecome down that way., It goes the other way.
Q@ The station part extends over the sidewalk? A Not north
of the corner, The stairway goes up on the outside, on the south

side, that is, out at the curd side, ‘

Q@ That was about 30 feet, you said; now, the next place,
how was that occupied? - A The next building is a buildihg ocou=
pied as a gents' fﬁrnilhing store;

Q Was that illuminated? A No,

Q It was dark? A Just light inside for protection,

Q But there was no light in the windows, or about the place?

A Yo,
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Q How wide was that? A I think that is about 20 feet,

probably 22 feet.
Q Then, passing on from that, going to the next building,

what was that occupied as? A The next building was occupied

as a saloon, and they have cabaret and restaurant above it, It
is a double building, It has two stores,

Q Two stores, with an entrance to the building proper between
the two stores? A They have lopdjnte entrances, There is an
entrance between the two Foing upstairs through the hall, bdut
they have a separate entrance to the saloon. and a -opurati en~-
trance to the cabaret. '

Q I am only concerned in knowing whether or not the front
of that building was in any way illuminated? A The only illu=-

mination at that hour is just lighte for protection inside the

building.

Q Not such light as would throw any illumination on the side~
walk at all? A VYo,

Q@ How wide would you say that building was? A That building,
I should judge, would be about 60 feet, or probably 65 feet.
That is about the frontage,

Q Now, the next building, what was that occupied as? A That
building is a restaurant,

Q Is it open at that time of the morning? A No, that buil=-
ding was closed.

Q It was dark? A Yes, That is No, 134, where the entrance

to the Chinese restaurant is,
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Q There are only three buildings, then, outside of the buile
ding in which tﬁe Chinese reltaur‘nt was located? A The entrance
to the Chinese restaurant is in the upper part of this dbuilding,

Q Toward the north end, you mean? A Yes,

Q So that we have 60 feet and 30 feet, that is 90 feet, and
25, that is 115; and about how many more feet is it bcfo?c you
get to the entrance of the Chinese restaurant? A I -houid Judge
about 125 feet from where I was standing. .

Q Are you 'ab}e¥ to remember exactly the location where you
were standing? A Yes, I was standing right out in the middle
of the sidewalk at the corner, I igat met Officer Siegel at the
corner, °

Q Now, officer, frankly, were you able, from the position

in’ which you were standing, to distinguish the features of the

persone who were engaged in the altercation at the restaurant?
A Yot at that diut;nce.

Q That is what I want to develop., I want the exact truth,
You could not distinguish the features, could you? A I could
only distinguish they were Chinamen and white men, I could dis=-
tinguish faces from that distance for a block, I could tell
whether they were white, black or Chinese.

Q Could you distinguish those features with sufficient cer-
tainty to have identified them from the distance, -~ from the
position you stood? A When I turned and loocked at them, I could,

It was light enough.

Q What did you mean by answering a moment ago that you could
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not distinguish features; which will you have now? A I doud
distinguish, == that is, the Chinamen; the difference; white
men or black men,

" Q In other words, you could distinguish a colored man fram

a white man? A Yes. N ;

Q One to be light, the o.ther dark? A“ Yes,

Q In other words, one looked to you to be wh?fo and the other
yellow? ‘A Yes,

Q@ They wore different kind of clothes, didn't they? A Yes,

Q In other word:?fChinamen wore blouses? A VYo,

Q How were they dressed? A Two of the Chinamen had aprons
on them, the other .Chinaman he had civilian clothes on, American
clothes.

; -

Q Well now, the first thing that attracted your attention was

hearing the sound of loud voices? A Yes,

Q Now, Officer, possibly you can try to brush up your recol=-
lection; didn't you see the Chinamen strike any blow? A I
saw two Chinamen, .

Q Did either one of the two strike any blow? A They were
in altercation with the other two; they were all mixed in to~-
gether,

Q Did you see either one of the Chinamen, or both of them,
strike any blow? A I could not say that I did. I saw the four
of them all mixed together in a general mix-up.

Q By a mix-up, you mean coming together? A Yes, they came
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together,
Q Dng}t you see the arms of any person extended back and

forth? A I saw a general “come-together"™ of the men, The four

men came itogether,

Q I want to know this, This is so liﬁple you ought to be

able to answer; did you see the extension or withdrawal of any
arm of any person, white or yellow? A Just as I observed them,
and started to wnlkAup toward them, these men went right together,
| the two Chinamen and two white men came together. The white men
turned and started to walk out and they'turned back.,

Q If you will only pay heeé to my question; ==~ the first
thing that attracted your attention when you turned about after
hearing loud noises was what? A As I started to walk ==

Q I am asking you ==

THE COURT: Now, Mr, Witness, you will go on with your

answer,

A Tiret, the noise attracted my attention and I turned and
started to walk toward where these men were, The white men

started to walk away. As I started to walk up, they started to

walk away, but they turned, and then whatever the Chinaman said,
they went back and started to strike at the two Chinamen,

Q Did you see the Chinamen make any attempt to strike at the
white men before you saw them turn and go back to the Chinamen?

A No,

Q How far had they gone away? A Just turned; they were just
starting away, and whatever they said, they turned and went back
at them,

Q You say "started®; did they take a step? A They took a
couple of steps and then went back.

Q As they turned back to the Chinamen, did you see the Chinamen
do anything? A 1 saw the whitemen start ==

Q Did you see the Chinamen do anything? A I did not see them
do anything as I turned,
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@ Pay heed, please to the question: did you see sny one
other than the deceased at any time lying on the ground? A No.
Q At no time? A At no time,

Q mid you see any one at any time use a foot other thamn for
the purpose of walking, such as for kicking or anything of that
sort? A No.

Q@ Were you perfectly calm and coal.'? A Perfectly.

) Do you meam to say you saw everything that hagpened there?
A I could not say I saw everything.

Q At what particular point was your vision fixed? WVas it fixed
at the upper part of the bodies or the lower part of the bodies
of the men? A Mostly at the upper part of the bod'teu; one
probably might have stepped out or kicked out that I may not
have seen in the mix-up,

‘), You don't mean to testify that you did not see a China
men there strike or attempt to strikg any blow? A I would not
sgy that I did see them strike or attempt to strike. I will
not say they did note I don't know whether they did attempt teo
strike or not, because they were right all mixed together.

Q Let me call your attentio;\\lfo some thing that may per=

haps refresh your recollection; do you remember the agppearamce
of this def endant af ter the altercation? A Yes.

Q Was he marked up? A He had a scratch on the side of his
head (indicating left a'ide of his head),

3 Can you describe that scratch? A He had a scratch on
this left side of his head, looked like a fingernsil soratoh: It

was about two inches long that way, and about two inches dowm
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that way (indicating).

Q Was it bleeding? A No, just a little light scratch,

0 ©cure about that? A Yes.

Q@ Do you remqﬁber when this defendant was being arraigned
in court, that the Magistrate before whom you arraigned the
defendant at tracted your attention to what seemed to be a wound
upon the defa@idant's head? A Yes.

Q Mmd the Magistrate said to you: "I went you to pay particu=
lar attention to the wound upon that man's head." nidn't he?

A ves, he said it.

( He asked you to me asure the wound, didn't he? A Yes.

Q@ Did you know why? A Because the Kgiﬁstr.to told us t};at
he wanted to be sure that there will be a f air and square deal
given to the men, and to take and make good note , that I
noticed the size of the injury to both of the men,

Q When you saw the scratch, as you call it, for the first
time, was it bleeding? A Just the skin was off. It was red.
No blood cane.

(0 Was it a recent wound? A Yes,

Q A8 though it had been inflicted at that sane time and in
the ;mé gltercation? A It might have been at that, or some
time before, but it locked as if it was a fresh wound.

Q You tock the measurement at the request of the Magistrate,
Il that right? A Yes,

£

Q What was the measuwrenent? A It was about two inches long
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on the side and two inches down, I should judge. I measured
with my eye; that was all,

Q What was the cond.l‘tion of the clothes of the defendant?
Were they smooth, or were they upnt‘or disordered? A He had
his overcoa on., His clothes seemed to be all right, with the
exception he did not have his csp on. His cap was lying on the
ground when I arrested him,

Q His cap was on the ground? A Yes,

O It seemed as if it had been knocked off his head? A Possi-

bly.

¢
) Now, beside the def endant his brother was with him? A Yes.

I believe his brother.

¢ You found out afterwards it was his brother? A Yes.

Q Mmd smother white man? A No other white men,

) Can you remamber the condition amd sppearance of his brother
when you got to the scer;e, right after that altercation? A His
brother was in good condition.

Q Did you see his clothes disordered? A No.

Did you see any marks upon him? A No.
| Upon his face? A No,

Q Did he have a hat on? A Yes.

Q That was knockled off? A His hat was on, -

) Were his clothes upset, dirty or muddy? A I di &'t notice
any part'iculnr ’thing on his clothes,’

v

Q Did you notice anything at any time about the conditiom
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of the brother"- shin? A wot until my attention was called to
it by the Magistrate, in the Magistrate's court.
0 Haven't you told me you didn't see any mark on him? A Not
at that time, at the time of his arrest.
0 Before ‘t.he Magistrate this hfother clﬂncd he had been
kicked in the shins? A He said something asbout that,
]

Q By the Chinaman -~ did he sgy that? A He said he was
kicked in the shin; that is all,

Q The Magistrate asked you to examine the mamn's shins? A Yes.

Q Did you look him over? A Yes. :

@ What did you observe? A A smmall seratch on the shin,

Q Of one shin? A Yes,

) Was the Magistrate there /at the time? A No.

L, My court officer there? A No.

( Any other officer connected with the court there?at that
time? A Nobody. ‘

Q° You did no t notice that the vdnin was torn and was black
and blue or getting black and blue? A There was just a small
bruise cut like on the shin (indicating left shin).

Was 1t black and blue? A No, Jjust a lit/f:le ;cab there,
like the skin was knocked off, "

Q Didn't you seg the blood that had evidently cosed to the
white socks or drawers? A No. He had on, I believe B, Ve D! 8-

It was just the sock,

@ You saw blood dry there? 4 Just a little bit of a sced

like,




Q Dry blood? A Yes. '
..Q Did you hear either this def endant or his brother make
any outery? A No.

Q Now, officer, the man who lost his life, he was ~tading

there? A Yeg,

e i + % e 7
Q At thie time when the altercation was going on, when these

men got together as you put it, at a distance, how far was he
from the four participants in that row? A Probably fie feet,
Q Now, indicate to the jury from where you are sitting,
at what point would you sgy; how far away? A The man was
standing at t..he carb.
Q How far? A From here over to the table (indicating).
MR. LEVY: About five feet, will you say?
NR. BROTHERS: Yes.
Q About five feet? A Yes,
Q It would not reguire more than about two easy steps to
reach it? A About two steps. v
Q Was the chinaman, the deceased, nearest to you when you
spproached, or was he furthest from you; in other words, was
the body of the def endant between you and the deceased, or was
the deceased ne arest to you? 1o I msake myself clear to you?
BY THE COURT:

Q You started to go from l4th street in theuptown direction?

A Yes.

Q Now, the deceased, as he stood at the curb, was he as near
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to you when you started to go towards the five men as the other
four, or was he further away from you? A Well, they were just
about the same, I should not say there was over a foot dife
ferende.\ ‘ | | : g

Q In other words, so far as being up town or down town was
concerned, they were all pretty nearly the same distance uptowm?
A MAout the same distance,

) The five feet that separated them was a separation c aised
by the deceased being about five feet further east? A Out at
the edge of the cui‘b, and they were on the inside,

BY MR. I-m:

Q 7Tid you get the impression, in looking at the four men in
the altercation that there was an effort being made to sep ar ate
them, or to get together? A They seemed to be getting together
as we ran towards them,

Q What was it that seeamed to cause the separation or division
of the men? A The tw Chinamen and tw white men were in alter-
cation there and the other man stood at the curb hollering, the
other Chln;nan, the deceased.

Q You did not then keep your eye on the four memj; you
kept your eye on the man at the curb? A Vy vision spread out
as I tan.

(Q How long did you say it took you te run from where you
had been at l4th strect, to the spot at which this altercation
had tasken place? A 1 started to walk, but as they started to

N 7
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mix-up together I ran. It probably didnot tsake aminute from
the time I started to run to get there.

! nid your brother officer run with you? A Yes.

Q Now, when you got‘ to the station house, you arraigned this
def endant and his brother upon what charge? A 0Of felonious
assault.

Did you do that, or didn't you charge him with disorderly
conduct? A No, I arraigned the defendant on felonious assault,
his brother acting in concert; I arraigned the two Chinamen for
disorderly conduct to hold them ni witnesses.

Q Didn't you say that the defendant laid‘ to the lieutenant
in charpge at the desk, that he wanted to prefer a camplaint
asainst the Chinaman? A Yes.

Q And the lieutenant Buia that wvul.a be settled in court?

A He said, "If you have my charge to make, meke it in court,
as you are going to court.,®
BY THE COURT:

So far a8 you know had you ever seen the defendant before
that morning? A No, I never seen him. I might have seen his
brother, but I didn't know him; he is a taxi man. As far as
I know I never seen him,

BY MR. LI*ZVY:.. "
') Did you see whether or ngt the def endant was searched that

morning? A Yes.

G Was anything found upon his person? A Nothing, only a
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penknife,

Q A small penknife? A Yes.

O And the keys? A Yes, /

Was there any weapon on him? A No.
0 The brother, was he searched? A Yes.
) Was anything in the shape of a weapon found on him? A No
Q Ae you @le to tell' me, Officer, what the condition of
the brother of the def endant was? A Yes, the brother seeamed to
be all in good condition. Therc seemed to be nothing wong with
him,

) One matter I want to have settled: both of these men were

perfectly sober? A Yes.
Q As far as youcould see? A As far as I could see,

MR, LEVY: That is all, your Honor.

RE-DIRECT EXAINATION BY MR, BROTHERS:
~ Q Officer, did I understand you correctly, that you were
within fifteen feet of the def endant at the time he stepped
over and struck at Chung wWing? A Yes,
At 2:30 a. m., traffic is not heavy at that point, is it?

A ‘o, very light.

) When you started to run you ram quickly, didn't your
A Yes, 3w,

Q A8 you @pproasched them, from the time you first caught
sight of _thil group of men, until af ter you got there amd ar=

rested the def endant, did the deceased, Chung Wing, tske any
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part at all in the mix-up? A No.

0 pid the def endant or his brother, when arraigned before

the Magistrate, make any charge of .asssult? A No.
Q Against the Chinamen? A They did note
Mite BROTHERS: That is all, :
BY MR, LEVY: -‘ i .
well, Officer, when the.defendant was arraigned in court
he had no opportunity to say anything, but he was immediately
remanded to the coroner, ien't that so? A . He:had time to sgy
| anything he wished.

Q If he wanted to, but there was no camplaint then made

gzainet him for disorderly conduct; the charge was homicide?

A Yes, next rorning }}én I arraigned thas in courts
I an talking abi‘Iut that morning in court. A They were
put arraigned for homicide then, becaise the man was still
alive.
I understood he died as early as six o'cfock that same
y o7
morning, s that he rust have bten dead, and yqu did not get teo
court until after nine? A I had no notification of it. ’
Didn't you immediately ask that the prisoner should be
rananded until you could get your report fvrcm Zthe'hu spital? A
Until we could get our report, The man was unconscious when
we were notified.
FH, LEVY: May it please your Honmor, I am going teo

ask your Honor's kind indulpgence to take¢ a regcess at this
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t4 1 ly'personal proundss 1 made gppointrents md
rrancehients at my of fice after four o'clock. You know with
at reluctance 1 went into this f,“iulb this afternoon, and
I should be ver) rateful if you could find your wey clear
tuke a,recess, so that I can arrance these office
ffadrs, and I prorise I shall be as expeditious as I pos=
8ibly c:n tunorrowe
bTe 1 want to accommodate you, but of necessity
" I shall adjourn rather early tomorrow, I wanted to proe
- f
ress with this case so that we could conclude it by to=
VITTOUW e
e LEVY: I will do everything in my power to dbring
t at about, ad I & Lling to start a little earlier even,
T3 juppose we start in tomorrow morning &
10 o'clock, Nr, therse
o
. =34 I a rfeetly arrecable, J
H ils it aTeeable to vou?
Miie LEVY: Yes, and I a@ppreciate it ery much indeed.
hT: Gentlemen of the jury, you are admonished
o ¢ cunverse a on vurselves on amy subject connec ted

ith this ial, or furm or express any opinion thereom until
the sae is whnitted to yous The cowt will stand adjourned

until l\J &J'L,Lu(:k LOMeIrIow \;!‘(llm'.

Shetree

( ¢ ouri takes a recess until Friday morning,

Junuary 7th, 1916, at 10 as ms)
(T)«.I ndait re Julded.) f{




THE PECOPLE ws, LUDWIG BRALL.
New York, January 7th, 1916,

TRIAL CONTINUED, 10 a. m.

LOUIS SIEGEL, (an officer of the 21st Precinct)
called as a witness on behalf of the People, being first duly
sworn, testifies éﬁ follows: P

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, BROTHERS: ‘

Q You have been a member of the police force of the City of
New York for how long? A Going on three years. |

Q VWVere you on duty as a police officer in the early morning
of November 1lst, last year? A Yes, e:r.

Q Did you see the defendant? A Yes, sir.

Q At what hour was it you nocticed him? A About 2#50 a, m.

Q And you at that time were where? A At ?he corner of l4th
street and Third avenue, northwest corner.

Q At that time your post was what? A On 14th street, from
Third avenue to Fourth avenue, on the north side of the street.

Q You did not patro; any of the avenue? A No, sir.

Q How long had you been upon the corner of Third avenue and
1l4th street when you saw the defendant? A Standing there about
a minute,

Q WVere you alone? A Standing there with Officer Peattie,

Q What attracted your attention to the defendant? A Well,
we heard some loud‘}alking and we started to walk toward No, 134

Third avenue,

s
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Q Was that where the loud talking came‘fron? A Yes, eir,
Q When you looked in that direction, tell the jury what you
saw? A We saw about; -- there were five men,three Chinamen and
twe white men, As we started to walk we seen the'two white men
walk away and all of a sudden turn back and start to punch the
two Chinamen.

Q T011 us where abouts in the block these men were? A They
were right in the centre of the sidewalk, in front of_134.

Q 134 is on the west side of the avenue? A Yes, sir,

Q Abdout in the centre of the block? A Yes,

Q Tell the jury what you saw as you continued walking toward
the men, A As we continued -- as we started to walk, they
started fighting.

Q How many men were engaged in the fight? A Four men.

Q Who were they? A There was Ludwig Brall, Adolph Brall,
and these two Chinamen, 8, Lee and Lum Dew,

Q Tudwig Brall is the defendant on trial here? A Ye;, eir,

Q And Adolph is his brother? A Yes. '

Q What happened? A As we seen them fighting, we started
to run..

Q That is, you yourself ran? A Yes.

Q How did you run, fast, or slow? A TFast.

Q Were you in uniform? A Yes.

Q Then what? A As we started running, we got within about
15 feet of this defendant and this fight, this other Chinaman,

the deceased, was standing about 5 feet away on the curb stone
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facing these people that were in fhin altercation, and shouting,

I understocd it as "Help™.

Q You think you could make out the word "Help™? A Yes.

Q Was he taking any part in the fight? A Ng, gir. As we
got within about 15 feet, why, this defendant here, all of a
sudden turned around on this deceased and struck him full- in the
face, knocking him about 10 feet out in the gutter, and he landed
on his head. ™~

Q Where was the deceased standing at the time the blow was

\t:::truck? A On the curbstone, about 5 feet away from the alter-

cation,

Q@ Were the other four men that were fighting between him and
the building? A Yes, sir,

Q When the deceased was struck, he fell out into the}pl.d'ny?f
A Yes,' sir,

Q What did you do? A This defendant and his brother started
to run, His brother ran into my arms and held on to me, while
this defendant ran into Officer Peattie'’s hands.

Q Did it take long from the time you heard the loud talking
until you came into contact with the defendant's brother? A
No, sir, about a minute.

Q What did the two Chinamen do when you grabbed the defendant's
brother? A They ran towards their doorway. They didn't know
who wﬁs coming. They ran towards their door.

Q Did they go in? A They stocd in the doorway while we held
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the defendant, but I gave my prisoner to Officer Peattie while

T ran out in the gutter and pulled the deceased towards the side-

walk.,

Q What was his condition as you got to him? A He was lying
stiff and moaning. The blood was streaming ffom his nose and .
mouth, and he was making a low moaning sound.

Q Did you see anything of any broken spectacles there?

A Yot until I came back from telephoning for the ambulance.w

Q Where did you gd to telephone for the ambulance? A 1l6th
street and Third avenué.

Q What place did you telephone from? A The police box on

the building.

Q - Did you have your eyes upon the deceased at the time that

the defendant went toward him? A Yes, sir.

Q Tell the jury just what the deceased was doing at the time
the defendant approached and struck him, A He was standing there
- mith his back towards the gutter, lhsyting, when he seen these
men in the altercation.

Q He was shouting? A Yes.

Q As the defendant came toward him, did he do anything in
addition to shouting? A No, his hnnd; were down, One hand was
kind of in a broken condition., He had it hanging like.

Q Which hand was that? A T think it was the left hand,

Q Did you know him, the deceased? A Yes, sir,

Q You had been in that neighborhood as patrolman? A About

two years.
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Q Did you see the deceased strike or kick at the defendant
at any time? A No, sir.

Q When you came back did you take anybody t§ the station
house? A Yes, sir;

Q Who was that? A Adolph Brall, I took.

Q Did you have a conversation with Ludwig Brall or with
Adolph in Tudwig's hearing? A No, eir,

Q You did not have any talk with him at all? A No, sir,

Q At the station house did you talk with him? A ©No, sir;
they would not talk.

Q Now, you may answer this question yes or no; did you have

any conversation with the Chinamen? A Yes, sir.

Q They speak some English, do they? A Yes,

Q Broken English? /A Yes. /

Q Did you know the defendant at that time, Ludwig? A I
didn't know him, but I seen him.

Q You had seen him before? A Yes.

Q You knew the brother? A Yes.

Q You had known him how iong? A About two years,

Q He is a taxicab driver, end had a stand on your beat?
A Yes, sir, 14th street and Irving Place,

MR, BROTHERS: That is all,

CROSS EXAMINATICN BY MR, IEVY:
Q Yow, Officer, you were in court yesterday, were you not?’

A Yes, sir.
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Q@ Were you in court during the time that officer Peattie

gave his testimony? A Yes.

Q You heard all that he testified to? A Yes.

Q You paid attention to his testimony? A Yes, sir,

Q And %bfore coming to court you hﬁd spoken to Officer Peattie,
had you? A I did.

Q About this case? AH Yes, sir.

Q And about your recollection ofdiﬁe events ot>that morning,
is that right? A I did.

Q You compared notes together? A Yes.

Q So that your testimony should agree, one with the other,

is that right? A Yes,) sir,

Q So that neither of you should make a break with regard to
differing in your testimony, is that correct? A Yes,

Q How many times did ybu do that with Officer Peattie? A
Just before we came to court, once.

Q Only once? A Yes.

Q How long before you came to ccurt? A As we were sitting
i@ court, in the back there,

Q You surely must have spoken about this case with your
brother cofficer before yesterday? A No, eir,

Q Your posts continued to be in the same neighborhood, -is
that right? A Yes, sir,

Q You both attended at the coronor's inquest, didn't you,

as witnesses? A Yes.
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*

Q You also gttended while the case was being prepared for

triel, you attended at the District Attbrney's office together?

A Yes, sir. “

-

Q You mean to say upon all these cccasicns you never.spoke
with your brother officer about the facts of the case? A No, sir,
not between times; Jjust at the time we were sent for, that is all,

Q I mehn, upon the occasicns when you were sent for, you knew
you were sent for in connection with this case? A TYes,

Q Then you compared notes? A {es, at the times we were sent
for, i

Q Each time &ou were sent for? A Yes,

Q And also upon attendance at the coronor's court? A Yes.

Q Officer, your sight is good, isn't 1t? A Yes.

Q And did you see quite distinctly what happened that morning?
A Yes.,

Q@ Will you say it was dark or light that morning? A Well,
it was pretty light around that neighborhood,

Q Sufficiently light, =~ it was illuminated enough for you
to observe quite a distance? A TYes,

Q How far do you say the distance was from where you were
standing talking to your brother officer, to the spot upon which

the men were standing engaged in that altercation? A About 120

or 125 feet.

-

Q So that you agree with your brother officer as to the dis~-

tance, is that right? A Tes,
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' R What part of the sidewalk wére they standing on? A Right
in the centre of the sidewalk. X

Q Where was the deceased standing? A On the edge of the
curb stone.

”»

Q@ In which direction was he looking? A ILooking towqrni'fhe

e AR

building. : - T:, .-

Q Looking toward the men engaged in that alterca;ion, is that
right? A Yes.

Q@ You said in answer to the learned District Attorney, that
he was knocked a distance of about 10 feet, is that your estimate?
A TFrom the altercation.

Q At the time you say that the blow was struck by the defem~
dant, when he struck the deceased, that the deceased was knocked
a distance of about 10 feet? A Yes, .

Q Will you indicate what your concéption of 10 feet is, and
how far from where you are sitting, would you say? A Well, from
about here to that white paper there.

Q The paper in front of Mr, Brothers? A Yes.

MR, IEVY: What do you say that distance is, Mr. Brothers,

I will take your estimate.

MR. BROTHERS: About ten feet.

Q DNow, in which direction was it that the deceased was knoeked;
was he knocked directly to the middle of the street, or sideways,
or how? A Well, about, he was knocked straight, and he was lying

lengthwise, the same way as the avenue,
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+Q Let us get that clear, pieue. Was he knocked out into the

street ‘or into the gutter? A Into the gutter.

Q@ 9 that he was not knocked out on the pavement; I believe
on the Belgian blocks? A Well,/ that is the street.

'Q You will have to describe as well as you can, the position

in which the man was lying? A I sald he was lying the same

\

way as the avenue, with his head towards 14th street and his feet

towards 15th street.

Q Practic a]:ly his whole body was in the gutter? A Yes,sir.
BY THE COURT: /

Q When you say "g\'xtter" what do you mean by the gutter? You
used the w/ord gutter; what do you mean by gutter; tell the
J‘ur’.? A The gutter is outside of the curbstone, where the traffie,
wagons and horses go.

Q Now, where the cartracks are, what do ;}ou call that? A That
is the gutter tooe.

Q In other words, you call the gutter the entire roadway
between curb and curb, is that so? A Yes, sir,
BY MR. LEVY:

Q The sidewalk is a little bit elevated above t};e ro adway,
isn't 17 A Yes. :
Q And there ia what you call a curbstone? A Yes, sir.
Q Separating the roadway from the sidewalk? A Yes, sir.
Q Hownear that curbstone running along the sidewalk was

the body knocked to? A About ten feet,




Q Out into the street? A Yes, sir,
~BY THE COURT¥

(, How close to that curbstone == now, you know what I mean
by the curbstone? A Yes, sir,

Q Now how close to that were the feet of the phinaman who
was knocked into the street, as you say? A The feet were

v
gbout eight or ten feet out. :

Q How close was his head to that curbstone? A His head
was about the same; he was lying lengthwise when I picked him
up.

Q- If you had had a tapemeasure, for exunple: aid you wanted to
measure from that curbstone to the nearest part of the body of
the man lying there, about how many feet would it have been, do
you think? A It would have been sout eight feet.

BY MR, LEVY;

Q So that in being knocked down, his body must have turned

80 as to put his head towards 15th street =«- |
THE COURT: 14th street? A Towards 1l4th street,

Q Towards l4th street, is that right? A Yes, sir,

Q pDpid the def endant approach the deceased to strike the blow
from the 15th street side or from the l4th street side? I
want you to unzlerst and that question thoroughly.

Mr . Levy: Shall I illustrate it, your Honor, so a®

to get a clear answer? g

-

; THE COURT: 7t think I cen explain to him.

~
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BY THE COQURT: >

Q When the def endant, as you sagy, started to go towards . the

Chinana} who was knocked down as you say, nt‘that moment -~ that
is to say, when the defendant started towards that chinamen,
which of the two was nearer to 1l4th street; do you understand
“ that question? A Wwhich of what two?
THE COURT; You put the gmuestion, Mr. Levy. He does
not understand.,

BY MR. I.EVY;

Q You have already testified that the deceased stood with
his back toward the street way, facing the houses; is that

correct? A Yes.

Q Or facing the men who were fighting? A Yes.

Q Was he standing immediately on the curbstone, or away
from it? A On the curbstone,

¢ Facing towards the houses? A Yes, sir. !

Q Now, when the defendant gpproached him and struck him
the blow, did the def endant spproach from near the 14th street
side or nearer the 15th street side? A yearer the l4th street
side.

Q 8o that he was nearer you, that is, this def endant was,
than was the deceased? A Yes, sir, they were about even. The
deceased was here (indicating), and defendant was about three or
four or five feet away.

BY THE COURT:

Q In other words, the movement that the defendant made was
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in an easterly dir;ﬁﬂun? A Yes, directly east.’

Q He walked almost directly east; that is to sagy from the
direction of the house on the. West side of Third avenue, towards
the east side of Third avenue? A Yes, sir,

BY MR. I.FVY'

Q Now, then, did he strike the deceased with his right hand?
A yes, sir.

Q What .part of the body or face did he strike? A He struck
him square in the f ace,

Q- In the middle of the face? A About the middle,

Q Ae you quite certain about that? A Yes,

Q Did not strike him on the side? A No,

Q Either on the right or left side, but square in the middle
of the face? A Yes, sir,

" Are you able to say whether it was a jab, or a swinging
blow? A He swung around, right around (indicating). As he
turned he swung right around.

Q As who turned? A The defendant.

() He had been facing the other Chinaman? A Yes, sir,

Q Mmd in which way di q.he t'urn his body; try to bring it ’
back to your mind now. He was facing the Chinamen, and turned ”
around and delivered a swinging blow? A Yes,

Q pid he turn towards the left, or did he turn towards the
right? A Towards his right.

Q" Now, T -@m supposed for the moment 4o, be, the defendant, and’

I an facing the other two‘men. I will turn around in the direce
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tion that the defendant turned, this way or that way? This way

is ri_ght and that way left? A Turned this wgy, towards l4th
street, |

n This way (Mr., Levy illustrating towards the left)? A Yes.

Q If he did that he would have had to reach the right side
of tte deceased Chinaman, wouldn't he, or his face? A I don't"’
know what side he w?uld reach, but I know he struck him in the
face, He is liable to reach any side.
BY THE COURT:

Q@ As. the chinanan stood there, before he was hit, the china~
man's left side was towards 1l4th s treet, is that so? A Yes.

9 As the ghinanan stood before he was hit, his left side

was towards i4th street? A Yes, sir.

Q He was feaing west? A Yes.

His right side was towards 15th street? A Yes.
BY MR, LEVY:

Q Now, then, did you see the body of the phinanan as it was
propelled toward the pavement? A Yes, sir,

Q In what way did the body go? Did it go in a straight
line out into the strect, or was he turned around? A It went
on a straight line, his head struck first,

Q 1o you understand that question? A Yes.

., In a straight line from the sidewalk, so the body then
was propelled directly east, isn't that right? A Yes; then he

rolled over,
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Q He rolled over? A Yes.

Q When you speak abo{x;'his lying there with his head ;.o'a'ds
14th street that was after his body had rolled over, is tﬁat
correct? A Yes.

Q s amatter of fact, isn't it true that when the body
of the deceased was picked up, one of his legs was on the side-
walk? A When he wA\s picked up?

Q Yes. A I picked him up myself.

Q I amn asking you waé’one of his legs on the sidewalk? A No.

0 n yoi: remember ‘a chair being brought, and his being
placed in a chair? A No. *

Q Whem you returned from the signal box where was 'the de-
ceased? A He was on the curbstone, on the 'sidewalk.

Q Lying on the sidewalk? A Yes, sir.

Q When you picked him up, didyou carry him over th the ddﬁ-‘
walk? A Yes, sir.

) Were you assisted By any one? A Yes.

) By whom? A By officér McKenna.

Q wu‘ it after you had returned from the signal box, or
before you went there? A Before'I went there I put him on the -
sidewalk,

) So that other officers came along? A Yes.

Q Dpid you whistle or give any alam? A No, sir,

Q Where was Of ficer's McKenna's post? A He just cane from

Rast l4th street.
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Q Any other policeman there? A m officer from the 15th

cane running down.

Q ‘ 7° you remember his name? A No.

Q ’ When thé policeman cane running was it due to any signal
or alarm that was given by any person? A No, sir; he must
have seen us run..

Q Now, Officer, are you able to swear that the deceased,
when you saw him standing upon the curb, wore spectacles?

A Yes, sir,

g You were near enough to him to see that? A Yes.

Q Before tle blow was struck? . Yes,

Q You told the District Attorney that you picked up pieces
of the spectacles upon your return from the signal box? A Yes;

Q Did you pick up these pieces, or were they picked up by
your brother officer? A We each picked up part of tham. He
picked up part and I picked up part.

Q@ Now, you szd that the brother of the def endant ren into
+your arms and held on to you? A Yes, sir,

Q Describe that; how did he hold on to you? A He locked
his arms around me and held on.

Q He held on to you? A Yes.

Q He seemed to be thoroughly frightened? A No, sir.

 His holding on to you was in the nature of a movement
seeking protecticn for himself, do you say that? A No, sir,

Q Wasen't it due to fear that he held on to you? You Qoro

your uniform? A He seen me and he held on to me,

-

{
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I

Q You said, however, he looked to be thoroughly frightened;

how did he manifest that fear? A I didn't say thet.
THE C()UR'I‘; Fe answered that in the negative.

) What was his conditionf{ his condition as to his apparel,
end as to his face? A Nothing the matter with him. He was all

richt as far a8 I could see.

Q) Did you see his clothes disordered or diserrayed at all?
A No.

Q Just s though he had just been out walking, without any
ruffled condition? A Yes, sir,

) Was he cool? A I don't know if he was cool.

Q. Did he seem cool =nd collected to you? A His face wes

flushed up.

Q Did you see any marks on his face? A No,

Q Did he say anything to you about having received any injury?
A No, sir,

Either there or in the station house? A No, sir.

Q Sure sbout that? A Yes, sir.

Q Dpid you observe the face of the def endant? A Yes.

Q What would you say eout .that? A He had a scratch on his
face.

Q What part of his fecé? A On the left side of his f e,

Q Can you describe that scratch? A The scratch cane down,

down on the side, sbout two inches here (indicating), and c ame

dowan about two inches. (indicating on right side of face, at




about temple),

Q Crosswise tw; inches and down two inches? A Yes, it came
| down about like this (indiceting).
0 Sort of a semi-circular shape? A Yes.

) You did not see in your answer to meke & distinction bes

IR
tween the left end the right side. You sgy his left side, “a’md

you illustrated Wit]"l your right hand; which was it? A Left
.side (indicating left side). |

Q Did he have any other mark on )}is face? A No, sir.

0 You went to the station house with both these people?
A Yes, sir,

Q The Chinemsn accompanied you? A The Chinamen cane later.

Q In the station house was there ‘anything said about the
Chinanan having assaulted either one‘ of those two brothers? A
The def endant here wanted to make a c¢harge against Lum Dew,

Q What did he say about that? A He slvai\d he wanted to make
a charge of assamlt ggainst him for assaufting him, He showed
us a scratch on his face,

Q What was said or done? A The lieutenant sald "If you have
any complaints to make, make it up in court, because you are all
going up to court tomorrow morning together,

Q “When you got into court do you remember the ’lxiotrate point-
ing out to you, and to your brother officer, what you call a
gcratch; I call it a wound; do you remember that? A Yes.

That was &f ter forty-eight hours; the first time we tock him

]

gysy

CsE 22130 |



to court we held him on a short af fidevit,

0 Then he was remended, and af ter he was reananded the Magis-
trate said something about this def endant, indicating that he
had received some injuries? A Yes.

Q@ 1o you remenber what was said? A He said, "Take a good
lock at that scratch on this man's head &and measure it m&‘éi've
him a square deal," :

Q Thatis all he said? A That is all I can remauder.\

Q was tlﬁere anything said about any injury to the leg or
shin of either one? A He said "Look the man over good; look
éll his bruises over carefully®, and we did.

BY THE COURT:

Q When you say the man, was he speaking of the def endant?
A The defendant, yes, sir,.

Q Now, did younotice the condition of the defendant's hand,
his right,hmd? A No, sir, ;

Q were there any scratches or cuts on his hand? _A No, sir.

Q His hand was in good working condition, epparently? A I
didn't teke notice of his hand.

Q You know t;ne brother of ‘this def en\dant, don't you? A Yes,
sir,

Q You told the pistrict At torney that you had seen this de~
fendant before, but had never known him? A Yes, sir.

Q Where had you seen him? A I seen him around the taxice

sthnd several times.,
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Q Talking to his brother? A Yes, sir,
Q 70 you know what business he was in? A No, sir,

Q Are you friendly disposed towards his brother? A No,sir.

O

You don't like his brother, do you? A I ciidn't say I

don't like him,

Q I am éaking you? A I treat him t}&e sae as I treat any-
body else.

Q But you have a feeling of antagonism against him? A No,sir.

Q What did you mean a moment ago in answer to my question =-

A I treated him the sane as I treated any body else that
violates the law.

Q Have you ever quarrelled with him? A I locked him upj;
never quarreled with him,

Q You have locked him up for vio%ating the corporation ordi-
nances? A No, sir, for disorderly conduc t.

In connection with his stand in 14th street? A Yes,sir.
The hackmen or taxicab men there are a source of trouble

to the police there are they not? A Not =all.

Q But whatever trouble was-had, was in connection with the
manner in which he attempted to conduct his business there,
is that right? A Yes, sir, |

Q Do you remember that the charge was made that you were
showing a little vindictiveness aggainst the ;rother in prosecuting
him? A No, sir,

Q Not in this case, but in the Magistrate's Court when you

’ A MY
Fgl ! 1’ . wopegitly . UL R d
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had made a complaint sgainst the brother at some other time

for violating the corporation ordinance; do you remember that?
A I di dnot show any prejudice against him,
Q You were .churp,ed with having & general prejudice against’
him?
MR. BROTHERS: I object to that, (
THE COURT: Objection suctained.
MR, I-EVY: I withdraw the question,
Q. Now, have you ever been in that restairant on Third ﬁvenue
which w@a occupied by the Chinamen? A Yes, sir,
Q How m;‘hy times? A Twice.
Q Vhat were you there for? A I was eating therenonce;
twice I:-was eating.
While you were in uniform or off duty? A Off duty.
Q You becane well acquainted with the deceased and the other
chinamen, didn't you? A No, sir,
Q You knew them by name? A After the arrest; I never knew
them before.
Q Not before? A No, sir.
How long before tle time before this unfortunate acci-
dent was it that you had beén in that place? A\ About five
months,

Q mon't you renacber that you were served in that restau=-
rant by the deceased? A No, sir, ‘,
(Q ¢(Are you sure gbout that? A Yes, sir,

Q@ 1o you know who di d serve you? A GSome walter; some other
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Chinaman., | '

Q Did you talk wit‘}l"the decea;ed Chinanan? A No, sir.

Q When you visited that place at any time? A No, sir, never.

Q Did you ascertain, or do you know what the position was
that was occwied in that restaurant by the deceased? A I had
known him 'as & manager of the restaurant. |

MR, .IEVY: That is all, your Honor, >

RE-DIRECT EXA'INATION BY FMR. BRO'J‘}EERS‘:
@ How long had you known the brother of the def endant?
A The brother about two years,
Q You tcld Mr, Levy that on several occasions ,ou had locked
him up for viclation tc the law? A Yes.
Q Was he fined for those violations?
MR. LEVY: Objected to as not material, competent,

-

or relevant,

THE COURT: You were interrogati‘ng him for the pur-
pose of a.scertaini‘ng“whetner or not he was biased, and the
theory of the exaination was if he had had a quarrel vs’ith/
the defendat's brother he might be biased sgainst the
defendant, and that if “he had arresjed the defendant's
brother without emee that might be Sndieative of Dk
dealing between him and defendant's brother, and possibly
indicate bias as against the defendant, and in that coﬁ-

nection it is competent to show that as a result of those

arrests of the defendant's brother, the def endant's brother
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was fined. I think in that connection it is campetent.

MR. ILEVY: Of course, with the distinct understanding
that the action of the Brother and the disposition of the
cases a ainst the brother, this defendant has nothing to
<‘10 wi fh.\

MR. BROTHIRS: Oh, I concede that,

THE CQURT: Of couﬂse, the jury are told that in
80 many words.

He was fined? A Yes.
On each and every occasion? A Yes.
On how many occasions? A On three occasions,

THE- COURT: I think that will be enough on that.point.

MR. PROTHERS: That is all,

MR, TWVY: That is all, Officer,

THE COURT: Gentlemen, we are wgiting for the Chinese
Interpreter, end in the meantime we will teke a recess
until 12 o'clock., Gentlemen of the jury, you are ad-
monished not to converse anong yourselves on any subject
connected with this trial, or form or express any opinion
thereon until the sane is subnvitted‘to you, The Court

tekes a recess until 12 o'clock,
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TRI AL CONTINUED, 12 o'clock noon,

(At this point Guy Maine, of 27 Bamdman Avenue,

Ianmaica, Long Island, is sworn as Chinese Interpreter,

HOOSUN L EE, (134 Third avenue) called as a witness on
the part of the Peéople, being first duly sworn, through the
offiaiel Chinese Interpreter, testified as follows:

DIRFCT EXAMINATION BY MR. B}{OT}{ER; "

Q You live at 134 Third avenue? A Yes, sir,

How long have you lived there? A Between thirteen and

fourteen years, 1 .

Q How long have you been in the United gtates? A Twenty
8ix years.

Q Are you in business at 134 Third avenue? A Yes, I have
a share in it.

Q Is that between 14th and 15th streets, in the pity of
New York? A Yes,

Q Who else conducts the business there? A Do you want the
nane of the outside partners?

2 I mean who were there in the restaurant? A Chung Wing,
Lum Dew and myself.

Q Chung Wing is dead now, is he? A Yes.

Q Do you remember the lst of November, about 2:30 a. m.,

having some trouble with white men in your restauramt, at 134

Third avenue? A Yee, I remember,
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Q' The defendant here on trial, Ludwig Brall, did you see

him in your restaurant at that time? A Yes, I saw him.

Q Now, will you tell us how mm}y white men cane in at that.

time? A Two; he and the other one, -
Q Do you see the other one here in court? A Yes, he is

here,
Q Where is he? A That is the man (indicating Adolph Brall).

Q Howmmy chinamen were in the restaurant at that time? A

We three were there,

s The three that you have mentioned? A Yes, including the

dead one .,
Q What hsppened in the restaurant? A It was due to the buying

of a box of cigarettes, and chung Wing had trouble with the man.

Q What did you yourself see and hear? A I saw Chung Wing
handing a box of cigarettes to them, and I heard Cchung Wing say
"fifteen cents", and they said "Only ten cents.

Q Did you see what kind of cigarettes they were? A
"Waturals", )

O Do you know the price of those? A I know it is 15 cents,

Q Which of the white men was talking about the ten cents to
Chung Wing? A Both sald the price was ten cents.

Q md then what happened, tell it adll in your own way?

A I noticed after the argument of the price they disagreed,
and finally both went out, went domgtairs. Chung Wing followed

them, I heard Chung Wing call me to help him, As I went down
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I saw the man .give him one blow and then Chung wing lay on the
floor, on the ground.
BY THE COURT:
Q When these white men left the restawrant, did either one
have a box of cigarettes? A I didn't notice which man had the
box of cigarettes.,
Q But did one or the other have a box of cigarettes? A Yes,
the box of cigarettes was tsken away,
Q When you say the box of cigarettes was taken away, what
box of cigarettes do you mean? A That box of "Naturo.l"cigarettes.
Q You mean that box of Naturel cigarettes that was in the res-
taurant at the timé that these men“came in was tsken away by
one of the two m?n, is that s0? A That is the cigarettes that
was on the counter at the time, but when they went away, then
the cigarctte was gone. That was the "Natural"cigarette that
they were erguTng about tre price.
BY MR. BROTHERS:
Q When Chung Wingcalledon you to come and help him where
was Chung wing? A He was dowstairs,
Q I understand the restaurant is one flight upstairs, up
fran the street? A Yes, one flight up.
BY THE CJUHT.: v
Q Did you see any money paid for the cigarettes in the res-
taurant, for this box that yéu havebeen spesking of? A No, I
did not see it.
BY MR. BROTHF.RS;

Q Did the other man, the other Chinaman, Lum Dew, - did he
N ¢
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go down with you? A He followed me,

Q When you got down on the sidewalk what hgppened? A Be-
fore I got clear down to the street I saw the white man gave
chu.ng Wing a blow md Chung Wing fell dowm,

Q Were there any blows struck by anybody in your restaurant?
A No, there were none.

Q How 1ong had you known Chung Wing? A I knew him quite a
iong time, but we were in business about seven or eight years
together.

Q@ About how old a man was he? A He was about forty-eight
years old.

Q He had trouble with his right arm, did he? A Yes.

Q Tell us what that was? A I was told by him -~

Q No, tell how it looked. A The arm was stiff all the time;
it could not -be raised much. |

Q@ Did he wear spectacles? A TYes.

Q Did you seé any policemen there after Chung Wing was struck?
A As soon as he was struck the policemen came by the way of l1l4th
street.

Q Were you taken to the station house? A After I went back
to thé‘reataurant, then a policeman came .up and asked me that I
must go along with him to the station house and act as a witness,

Q Did you see which of the white men it was that struck
Chung wmgé A This one. (Indicating the defendant.)

Q Indicating the defendant? A Yes, this is the man, he is

the man that gave the blow, 1
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BY THE COURT:

Q Where do you say that you were at the moment that the blow
as you say, was given? A I was by the entrance.

Q Were you standing on the sidewalk; yes or no? A Yes,

§ When the white men started out of the reataurant‘to go dowmn
to the street, did you hear them say anything? A They didn't
say anything.

Q You say that Chung Wing followed them dowmn? A Yes,

" MR. BROTHERS: That is all.
BY THE COURT:

Q About how large a room is that restaurant? A I could not
give you the exact dimensions, but it holds fourteen tables.

Q Were you in the room on the morning of November lst when
thentwo white men came into it? A I was there,

Q Did you see what they did when they first came into the
restaurant? A As soon as they came in, they sat down and or=
dered something to eat.

Q To which cne of the three Chinamen was that order given?

A 1t was given to Chung Wing.

Q Did you see whether or not that order was served? A Yes,
it was served.

Q While the defendant and the other white man were eating,
were there any other white peqple in the restaurant? A At that
time there were only those two; nobod& else,

Q About how long did the defendant and his companion remain
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at the table? A Between fifteen and twenty minutel;

Q Do you know whether they paid for what they ate? A 1
didn't know what they ordered; I didn't know whether they paid
for the meals or not. Chung Wing had charge of that.

Q You heard in the restaurant, as you say, some talk about
_a box of cigarettes, is that so? A Yes, I heard that.

Q PBetween what persons was that talk? A Chung Wing was
talking with these two men,

Q You mean the defendant an& the defendant's companion and
the Chinaman whom you have named, were talking, is that so?

A Yes, my partner was talking with these two men.

Q Where did that talk take place, in what part of the res-
taurant? A At the counter where the cash was paid over, where
the cash counter was,

Q That was about gow far from the table at which the defendant
and his companion had been sitting? A They were eating in the
front of the restaurant by the window, the table separate from
the counfer. There is about the distance of four separate tables,

Q The counter at which the talk was, was that near the door
through which they had entered the restaurant? A There is a
counter, then right in front of it is the entrance.

Q Where were you when tpat talk took place? A f'wnn standing
by the kitchen door,

Q That was about how far away from the counter? A About

three or four steps.

/
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Q Did you take any part in that talk? A No, I didn't take

part.

Q Did you talk with either the defendant or his companion at

any time that morning while they were inside of the restaurant?
A Not at all,

Q During that talk did you know where the waiter was who
served the defendant and his companion? A The éne that served
them is the very one that talked with them. $

Q And give-me his name again. A Chung Wing.

Q How many flights up is that reétaurant? A One flight.

It is about sixteen or seventeen steps.

Q Did you see either the defendant or his companion while.

they were in the act of going downstairs? A There was a bend
there, as 'they go out of the entrance. I saw them go out
but going down the stairs I didn't see them.

Q When you are on the sidewalk and enter the building, you
enter the hall, do you not? 1 Yes, there is a little hall,

Q About how far do you have to walk along the hal} after you
pass th? entrance QOor downstairs, before you get to the foot or‘
the ;tairs leading up to the restaurant? A About the distance

. between here and that table,
MR, LEVY: About 12 feet, I take 1t?

Q Did you see either the defendant or his companion in that
hallway, ihat is to say, on the ground floor, uftor they had left

the restaurant? A No, I d4id not see them there,
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Q 50 that, as I understand you, you did see the defendant

and his companion after they had.left the restaurant, in the hall

on the floof of the restaurant, dbut you did not see them in the
act of going down the stairs, or in the hall downstairs on the .
ground floor, or again until tHey were on the sidewalk in front
of the restaurant, is that ao? A Yes, that is so.

THE COURT: You may examine, Mr, Levy.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, LEVY: ‘
Q Do. you understand English? A Very little.
Q But, you were able to understand what was said between

Chung Wing and these two men that morning? A Some of the con-

versation I understood.
Q How long did that argument or talk last? A A few minutes,
three minutes or)so.
THE COURT: Pardon me, I have not it quite clear in my
mind whether that talk was with the deceased.
~MR. LEVY; It was, your Honor,
MR, BROTHERS: So I understood.
Q That talk or argument was had with Chung Wing, thé deceased?
A Yes.
Q Now, what were Chung Wing's duties in that place? A He
was the walter,
Q And he did serve the two men with the dishes that they asked
for? A Yes,

——

Q And he also was in the habit of serving other people who




w : 69

came there? A He did serve others too, bu£ at that time they
were the only ones there,

Q So that he had the use of his hands to carry the dishes
to and from the tables? A Yes, only a little stiff,

Q But he could uaéwhis arm for the purpose of carrying dishes~=
and attending to the duties of his position? A Yes,

Q Yow, the counter at whigh you say the talk took place, the
cash drawer is located there, is it not? A Yes.:

Q And the men, after they had been served with food, went
to the counter to pay for what they had eaten, isn't that so?

A That is the custonm.

Q And on that counter there is a little cigar case in which
are kept either cigars or cigarettes, or cigarettes alone?
A There were cigars and cigarettes.

Q There are different kinds of cigarettes that were kept dy
you at that time? A Yes,

Q The conduct of the two white men while in that restaurant
was perfecély peaceable, wasn't 1t? A At that occasion they
did not make any disturbance; but in former times they always
gquarreled about the price.

MR, LEVY: i move that be stricken out.
THE COURT: I will leave in the first part, that they
made no disturbance; the rest is stricken out,

Q Didn't you see them go up and pay for what the& had had,

and then order the cigarettes? A 71 did not notice they had paid
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anything or not, but I only noticed at the time whenbthey asked
for cigarettes, I took notice of them. |

Q And are you able to swear whether or not they laid upon
the counter 10 cents fﬁr cigarettes? A That I didn't see,

Q Did you see any money placed upon the counter at all? A
I didn't notice it.

Q@ Do you remember that the bill for what they had gotten to
eat, was 45 cents? A I don't know; I don't remember,

Q When they started to go down stairs, the two white men,
did they walk dowmstairs? A It was xfhd of half running.

Q@ Didn't you approach the counter while the argument was
geing on and didn't Lum Dew also approach the counter? A No,
we did not,

Q Who was it that descended the stairs first? A I went out;
Chung Wing went down first and I followed him.

Q Did the white men precede Chung Wing, or did he precede
them? A The white men preceded Chung Wing.

Q Did they go out together, theltwo white men, or separately?
A They all went down, the three of them all rushed down about
the same time,

Q That is to say, Chung Wing and the two white men, is that
what you mean? A Yes, they went out, |

Q Together? A Yes,

Q Will you tell me, please, how wide the stairway is?

e

A About the width of that. (Indicating jury box door.)
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Q Show with your hands. A ILike that, (Indicating.)

MR, TEVY: That is about 3 feet, I take 1t?
MR, BROTHERS: A little over 3 feet.
JUROR No. 2: About 2-1/2 feet.

Q Do you know how far down the stairs they had gotten before

Chung Wing called on you to come dowm? A I didn't know where
" 'he waaiat the time, dbut I heard his call,
e PP o o g S i

Q Are you able to say whether or not Chung Wing, before he
went ﬁownstairs, took off his apron?. A He did not have any
apron on; sometimes he did not put on any apron at all.

Q I am talking of that morning; did he have an apron on?
A No,

Q Did he have a hat on? A He had a hat. He put on a hat.
The hat was right there and he took it up.

Q@ Did he have a coat on? A Yes,

Q@ Did he put his coat on? A He had the coat on,

Q Where did he get the hat from? A The hat was in the
vicinity of the counter,

Q Before he left the restaurant to go downstairs, 4id Chung
Wing say anything to either you or to your other partner? ‘A Neo.

Q Did he say wh& he was going downstairs or indicate by words
in any way the purpose of his going out? A No, he did not.

Q Do you recali to mind what words he used when calling up
to you? A He said in Chinese, "Come down and help me."

Q And that sound came from the hallway? A It sounded like
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from the entrance of the building, from the hall.

Q Where was Chung Wing when you got first sight of him as he
descended the'stairs? A He' was on the sidewalk when I first saw
him,

Q@ Was the door leading into the entrance open? A You mean
at the time after I got down the hallway?

) A8 he was going down thé ;staira.‘ A The door was closed.

Q Now, then, I want you to describe to the jury how many
doors must be opened in order to gain gccess to your restaurant,
from the street?

-BY THE COURT;

Q) If aman is on the strect, out on the sidewalk and wants
to go inside of your restaurant, and all doors are closed, what
doors, woﬁul{he have to open in order to get in? A There is a
door by the' sidewalk at the entrance, and then there is another
door that leads into my restaurant; tw doorss
BY MR, L}‘.‘VYv:

Q Now, the door on the sidewalk is the street door, is
that what you mean? A Yes.

BY THE (,O'JP.T':

Q Is that door all wood, or is there glass in it? A The
middle part 11'glass, a large plate of glase.

Q Glass like window glase t}fat you can look through? A Yes,

S 5 L

. PRITE Y. 00ty { Y
(cm see through it,. e A e d

BY MK. LEVY: Py iy
.. Q Is it entirely clear, or is it painted, or glazed in any
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way? A It is just like that, clear (Witness indicates window glass

of court room),

Q@ There is considerable lettering and painting on it, signs?
A Yo, 'no lettering.

Q None at all? A No.

Q Now, in order to get to that first door fr&- the street, do !
you have to pass through the vestibule in front of it? A About
two or three steps, then is thé doore.

Q Do you have a light in front of the door, facing the side-
walk or inside behind the door? A There was two; one in the

front and one in the back,

Q After you opén that door, and go in, you would have .to, im
order to go to the restaurant, go up how many steps; staire »
ways, I mean? A There is one flight., It has sixteen or seven~
teen steps.

Q When you get to the hgad of the steps there is another dor,
is there not? A As you get to the top of the stairs, then there
is a little bend, and then you come to the door.

Q That is to sa&y, there is another little hal lway that turns
eround, is that what you mean? A There was only a small place,.
Formerly it was used for a hall upstairs, but we partitioned
it off, '

Q Now, whet kind of door was that door which led from that

little space into the restaurant proper; describe it? A It is

a swinging door; a glasse door, but it is a swinging door,.
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Q It swings both wgys? A Out,

Q What is it made of; is it wooden or what? A It is wooden,
but it has a panel of glass in the centre,

Q About how large is the(gl"us in the centre? A About that
(indicating).

MR. LEVY' About a fc;ot?
MR, BRO'I‘HI-‘.RS;. Yes.

Q You mean a foot square, is that what you mean? A Quite
longe. |

Q Running to the top of the door? A Yes.

Q Now when the three men, the two white men and your partner,,
Gliung Wing, went downstairs, who was it that opened the upstedrs
door? A The door was not locked.

Q I am not talking whether it was locked; was it closed?

A The door was not locked when the two white men walked out,

Q I did not ask you whether it was lockeds I am asking you
whether it was closed? A There is a hook there, At that time
the door was hooked to the side of the wall. It was hooked.

Q@ That is what I am trying to fi¥id out,

BY THE COURT;

Q In other words, that door, during the time thax the de=-
fendant and his canpanion were in the restaurant was f astened
by a hook end was open, is that so? A Yes,
BY MR. LEVY’

Q When you got down the stairs, was the door leading ‘to the
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street open or closed? A It was closed.

0 And how was it opened? ,A Is there a knob on it? A Well,

when I push it it is open.

o

Doeen'f. havé a knob to turn? A The door has no knodb at
" all, The only way to lock it is with a key.
Q Then it ﬁxust ‘have a lock with a knob that turni? A There
was a thing on the outside ‘that can push the dgor open, From
the inside you don't need any. Just push the door open.
Q Was it a swinging door, or was it a different kind of adoorf
A It only can swing out, but you can't swing it in.
Q To what particular point on that stairwgy did you get whem

~
vou first saw Chung wing downsteirs? A I didn't see Chang

Wing until I pushed the door; then I sew him out there.
Q Then you pushed the door open and went out on the side~
walk, is that right? A Yes.
BY THE U()U}?’I‘é
Q Now, at that moment, how many chinamen, besides yourself,
if eny, were on the sidewalk? A There was Chung Wing and myself
on the sidewalk, &and then my other partner was right after me,
Q And vhen you came down on the sidewalk and Chung Wing was
there at what particular point or place on the sidewalk was
\chung Wing standing? A They were by the lower end aideflf the
do orway.
+Q You mean on the gide of the . door nearest to l4th street,

i® that 80?7 A Yes, nearer l4th street,
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BY MR. LEVY:

Q And how near the entrance were they? A Chung Wing was

stunding several steps from the entrance door,

Q Well, won't you please try to tell me whether he was
stending near the entrance in the middle cf the sidewalk or near
the gutter? A About the middle of the sidewalke.

Q How many steps would he have had to teke from the posgitiom
in which he stood in order to get to the curbstone? A Perhgs
about four steps.

Q Are you &le to point out to his Honor and the jury what
distance Chung Wing would have had to go frum the spot at which

he stood when you saw him when you got to the sidewalk, to get

S

to the curbstone? A /fout from here to that t‘able.
Q From where you are sitting? A vyes.
MR, LEVY: What would you say that was?
MR, BP\UT}ERs; At least six feet.
THE FOREM AN OF THE JU’RY; About six feet,
(The distance is measured by a ruler eand it is about

seven feet,)
,

Q Dpid you see Chung Wing struck the very minute that you came
"
out of the door of your place on to the sidewalk? A I saw Chung
Wing was struck as soon as I got downstairs.
Q To the door? A When I saw he was struck down by the man
I was right by the doorway,

BY THE COURT:
Q How much time passed from the time that you opened the

v v d‘“‘\_ .
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door until the time when he was struck? A M instant; he
did not td_(e longe.

BY MR, IFVY:

+ Now, where did you see him strike; ' what part of his face
or body? A I saw the blow, but where the blow landed, I did not
take special notice.

Will you please tell his Honor and the jury in which di=-
rection was Chung w1ng‘fac1ng when the blow was delivered? A
}us f ace was faci;ig the doorway; m;} dolh‘.

Q When the blow was delivered was Chung Wing standing or wes
he walking or running? A I saw him as he was trying to walk
to the restaurant, walk to the door, as he was going to walk,

Q@ Did you see his foot extended as if about to tske a ’step
to go towards the restaurant? A Something like that, like
teking a stepe.

Q pid you hear him say anything at that time? A No, I did
note

(Q Did you heer the def endant or the other man sg anything
at that time? A I heard some little sound, but I didn't know
what they were talking &out,

Q Will you now tell me ‘please where was this defendent .at v
the time that he stiuck that blow? A You mean the defendant.
Q Yes, the def endant? A They were facing each other; as

he was st aiding here Chung Wing was lying down on the floor,

Q Now, I an talking of before the blow was struck. I will

put it this way: How close were they to each other when the




blow was deiiverod? A No more than a step.

Q And where was the other white mam at that time? A He-
was further down,

Q pescribe if you please the positioms; this defendant,
you say, was facing the deceaseds Now, where was the other white
man; what was his position? A He was s-everal steps away from
him, belows 3

Q Below where, towards l4th street? A Towards l1l4th street.

Q Are you sure that when that blow was struék that your parte
ner Lum pew was not on the sidewalk? A He was not on the side-
walk yet.

Q He had not got down yet? A He was right after me. I den't
know whether he was by my side or not, at that time,

Q Isn't it a fact that you and Lum Dew and the two white
men got together, or mixed together? A We were on the side-
walk, hut not mixed tugeth‘;;::ﬂ

Q Did you see any one strike Lum Dew? A No,

Q Did any one strike yow A No.

Q Did you see a fight in progress when you got down to the
entrance? A The only thing that I saw w’ai the blow that
he delivered to Chung Wing.

Q Was there any more than one blow struck in the entire
affair? A I only saw one blow,

Q Did you or Lum Dew or‘Chung wing strike any blow?

A NO. sir,
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Q Did you see the companion who was with this defendant
strike any blow? A No.
BY THE CJ‘JRT;

Q Was the deceased your partner, or was he merely an em-
ployee? A He was my partner,
BY MR. LEVY;

Q Did you see this def endant turn around? I will illustrate
by the motion of my body =~ did he turn around and deliver a
swinging blow, just as I illustrate to youw (Indicating with a
right-hanmd swing, and turning body from right to left)

A I saw him this way (indicating swing with right hemnd) This
way (indicating).

Q Did he turn his body around so as to get close to Chung
Wing? A I didnot quite notice that,

THE CQYI}-"I‘.: We will take a recess until 2 o'clock,

Gentlemen of the Jury, you are admonished not to con=-
verse among yourselves on any subject connected with this
trial, or , form or express any opinion thereon until the

sane is submitted to you, The Court tses a recess until

2 o'clock,

. TRI AL CONTINUED, 2 p. m,
HOOSUN ©LEE, recalled, for further cross examination,
testifies as follows:

CROSS EXA/INATION BY MR, LEVY: (Continued)
Q When you saw the blow struck =~ or did you say you did not




see where the blow landed? A That is so,

Q You did not see where it Ulmded? A I didnot see it.

Q Then what did you see Chung Wing do? A I did not see him
do anything.

Q Did he stand up, or did he fall back, or did he fall down?
A He fell down, T

Q Right at the spot where he was struck? A After he was
struck he fell, and then landed by the gutter, \ .
\ Q Did he get off the sidewalk at all, when he faﬂl?’ A _You
mean Chung Wing?®

Q Yese A He fell out, but he did not walk out there,

Q Did he fall off the sidewalk, or on the sidewalk? A He
fell out in the street by the gutter,

Q Did any pat of his body remain on the sidewalk? A He
was all clearout in the street, -

Q How\‘far out in the street? A About a foot away from the
gut ter,

Q Do youknow what the curbstone is? A Yes, sir, I know.

Q Was any part of the deceased's body lying on the eurbstone,
or over the curbstone? A He was out in the street clear.

Q In what direction was his body lying; what position? A
The head was facing upward, kind of diagonal, lgy there in a
diagonal way.

Q In yfhich way was his head facing, towards 15th street or

Powards 14th strect? A His head towards 15th street,
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Q Are you sure his head was towards the direction of 15th

street? A No mistake; his head was towards 15th streect.

BY THE COURTI: "

Q Whicl*was nearer to 1l5th street? His head or his feet as he
was lying on the street? A You mean to say which side his
head,on 14th street or 15th street nearer?

Q When he was lying on the street what part of his body was
nearest to 15th street; his feet or his head? A The head was
nearer 15th street, | :

Q Mnd the feet were nearer to 14th street than his head

was? A The feet near 1l4th street,

BY MR. LEVY:

Q When $e fell down what was then done by any one in that party

A Nobody did anything £o the body untii the police came and
they took him up,. .
How long after Chung wWing fell was it that the police

arrived on the scene? A They cane right away.

Q Who lifted up chung Wing? A The police,

Q Was there a chair brought down? A A chalr was brought
down, g

Q Who placed him on the chair? A At that time when he was
put on the char there was the police, and :J.so the doctor,

Q Did you seec many people in that neighborhood at the time

‘of the trouble? A At the time when the blow was struck there

was nobody there, but after the occurrence there was quite many.
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Q Did you see af ter the blow was struck what the defendant
did? A After he struck the blow he tried to run away, but the
police caught hold of him. -

Q Dpid you see what became of the compmionlof the def endant;
the other white man? A His “companion was also caught hold of
by the of ficer.

Q Dpid the 0f1’icer' run af ter hirh, or did he run into the
policeman? A They tried to run down to 14th street, and just
then the police came towards them,

Q Then when you saw the blow struck what did you do? A I
tried to catch those two men,

Q@ What did you do, ‘did you go away or stay there or what?
A I was going to get atrf.tc:r them, but I saw the police caught
hold of them. Then I stéood there; I didn't go any further.

Q How long did you st&d ther e?+.A%Just a couple of minutes.

Q Then\what dideyou do? A I got back upstairs to the res-
taur ant,

Q Now, when the blow was struck and Chung Wing fell, and the
police got the defendant anmd the other man, did you see what
Lum pDew did? A He went up to the restawrant,

Q Did he go up right away, or did he wait until you went up?
A I don't rémember who went up to the restaur ant first,

Q@ But you were not placed under arrest, or called a8 wite

neesses on the sidewalk? A After I went baok to the restairant,

then the police came and askedme to go and act as a witness.

|
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Q Now, the aproach into your restaurant is by means of
steps, two or three steps that you have got to ascend-before
you get to the vestibule in front of the street door, isn't
that s0? Like a stoop? A Yes, that is so,

Q How many st.e.ps, do you remember? A There are two or three
steps from the street, ;

Q TFrom the sidewalk? A From the sidewalk, amd then af ter you
get up onto a little platfom, then another step before you
get to the door,.’

MR, LEVY: That is all, your Honor,

MR. BROTHARS: I think that is all. I would like to
have the diagram which has been referred to, marked in
evidence by consent.

MR, LEVY: No objection,

MR, BROTHERS: ».It shows the Third avenue intersection
with 14th and 15th streets drawn to a scale of one inch to
twenty feet.

(Piagran is marked as People's Exhibit 2 in evidence).

LUXM DEW, called as a witness in behalf of the People,
peing first duly sworn, through the ghinese Interpreter, tes-
tified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BROTHERS;
Q Where do you live? A 134 Third avenue, near 1l4th street. ~

Q You have lived there how long? A I was there about eleven

-~
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years,

Q You have been in this country how long? A Twelve years.

Q You were born in China, were you? A I was born in Cali- |
fornia. ‘ :

Q@ But you are a Chinanm?\ Yes, sir,

Q Your parents were Chinese? A Yes,

Q Do you know the last witness? A Yes, I know him,

Q Were you -and he and Chung Wing in business at 134 Third
avenue, in a restawrant? A Yes.

Q Now, goihg back to the early moming of the 1lst of November,
1915, do you remember seeing the def endant and the other white
men in jour restaurant? A I remember.}

Q What part of the woxrk did you have charge of? A I was
a dishwasher,

Q Did you then see anything of any trouble that happened
in the restaurant that night? A The only dispute was about the
price of cigarettes, that is all,

N Were you in the restaurant room at the time the dispute
was had? A I wab by the door of the kitchen,

Q Did you hear what was said by the white men or any of the
Ghinamen about the cigarettes? A I did not understand their
talkinge.

Q You do not understand English? A No. 4

Q They were talking, were they, the white men qnd chung Wing?
A '!'hey were disputing, from the way I understood,

Q They were talking? A Yes,
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Q But you did no t understand them? A I did not,

: >

Q What di d you see?® A I don't know whether they took the
cigarettes or not; I di 't see that,

Q Did you see thean go out of the restaurant? A I‘ saw them
g0 out.

Q Did any one go out at the time that they did? A The three
went out first, and then finally Lee went out, =nd then I fol=-
lowed,

() By the three, you mean the two white men' and Chung Wing
went out first? A Yes.

Q And ydu went out? A A minute or so after Lee went out, and
then I followed.

Q pid youget as far as the sidewalk? A When I got to the
sidewalk I saw chung Wing was lying on the ground.

Q Who was there; you saw Chung Wing lying down, Now, who
else was there? A I saw the police had hold of the white men then.

Q You did not see any blow struck on the sidewalk? A How
the blow was struck I didn't see. i Fe

Q Wwhereabouts was Chung Wing lying? A Was lying by the side
of the curb, on the street.

Q As you cane out of the door on to the sidewalk was he directly
in front of you, or was he to your right or left? A A little way
from the entrance to the restaureant.

Q Would that be towards l4th street or towards 15th street?

A It is nearer l4th street,
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Q But in front of the building in which the restaurant 'ulf"{
A It is a little way from the front of the entrance of the res-
taurant. \

Q D»id you go over and look at him? A I went over and looked
at him, but his face was full of blood.
Q@ Where was the defendant when you cane out to the sidewalk?
A well, he mgy be about ten steps away from the body,
Q What was he doing? A The policeman got hold of him,
. :
Q pid the policeman have hold of him at that moment? A Yes.
Q@ pid you see the other white man? A I saw him get hold of
this one (indi'g ating the defendant).
Q That is the defendant? A- Yes, sir.

Q How many policemen were there when you arrived? A Those
two policemen. Each one got hold of a white man, and then the
third one cane up and asked me to come to the station house,

.Q You went to the station house, dida't you? A Yes, the

police askedme to go,

MR, BROTHERS: I think that is all,

CROSS EXAVINATION BY MR. LEVY:
Q Just a few questions please. Was the_ door upstairs, whem
you cane down, the upstairs door, was that open or closed? A
It was open and hooked,
Q How @bout the door dowmstairs, was that open or closed?
A It was closed.

Q When you got down to the widewalk you saw Chung Wing
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Q Will you please tell me exactly where he was lying? A How

he was lying, I could not tell you, but I knew he was lying down.

Q Was he lying on the sidewalk? A He was lying on the

street, near the curd where the cars pass.

Q po you know the differmce between the sidewalk and the

street? A The place where you walk that is the

sidewalk,

Q Thatis righte And I want to know exactly to the best of

your recollection where you saw Chung Wing lying? A He was
/

lying on the street close to the gutter.

Q Was any pat of his body, his legs for instance, lying

on the sidewalk, or extending over the sidewalk?
Q Are you able to say in which direction the
lying? A Suppose here is the curb, his head was
the curb, and his feet were pointing 6ut fur ther
Q With your Honor's indulgence for a moment,

that straight line, with his Honor's permission,

A No, all clear.
body was

nearer towards
to the street,
-= we will call

the curb, I

want you to make:-a mark showing in which direction the body

of the deceased was lying., Consider that that straight line

indicates the curb., (Handing psper to the witness) A Supe-

pose this is 14th street here, the feet was right about here

and the head more close to the curb (indicating).

Q If I may be permitted, we will call that the head, and

the” body lying in this direction: is that so? A Yes, similar

to that.
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BY THE COURT;

Q How far was the head from the curb? A Only a little bit.

Q Show with your hands, A (Witness indicating about six

i

irg.}:ea). |
e MR, LEVY: That is about aix‘or eight inches, I
Suppo se o -
Q Did you remnain down there until they lifted up the body
of Chung Wing? A I went up to the restaurant first, before
the body was taken up, but I understood ==--

MR, LEVY: No, I don't suppose we want the under=-
standing,.

THE COURT: Mr. Levy, do you want that paper marked for
identification?

MR. LEVY: I think perhaps it would be well to put
it in evidence, although it is practically my own illus-
tration,

MR. BROTHERS: Ae long. as Mr, Levy made it I d& not
object to it,

(Paper marked pefendant's Exhibit 1 in evidence.)

(Def endant's Exhibit 1 is shown to the jury.)

BY MR. LE'VY':
Q Why did you go upstairs /leaye the body of yow partner
lying bleeding upon the eidewnz: A I saw the police had hold

of the prisoner, so I went back to the restaurant.,

Q Weren't you concerned{to know whether or not your partner
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was dangerously or fadly hurt? A At that time the prisoner was
caught.

Q I an talking sout the condition of chung Wing: weren't
you concerned about his condition at all? A Well, I noticed he
was badly hurt and in dying condition, and I"did not dare to

interferes

Q As amatter of fact, were younot a little bit afraid that

you might yourself get invcglve'dwir_; some trouble if you ata,ved down _ .

on the sidewalk? A No.

Y

Q Did you strike anybody upon that occasion? A No, I didn't.
Q Did you see any blow struck? A No, I didn't see,
) At any time were you and Hoosun Lee sd this def endant and
the companiom, the other white man, ever close together? A No.
Q How did you come to gc: dowmstairs? Were-you called dowm?
A I heard the call for help so Lee went out and I followed.
Q And where did that call for help come from, to the best of
your belief? A I heard the voices cone from below,
Q Did they come from out in the street, or did the voices
come from the hallway. It seaned it came by the doorway, by
the entrance,
Q How long after Hoosun Lee had gone down did you 29 downst air s?
A Maybe a minute, T
Q pid youput on-a hat or a coat? A No, I di;m't.
Q' Did you see Chung Wing put 01:1 a hat or a ct;;t‘l A He had

a hat on,
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Q Did he have a hat on when he was up in the restaurant or
did he put it on before he went downstairs? A He hadn't any
hat on at the restaurant, Abut as they go out he put on a hat.
Q AMAnd followed after them? A ' Ye Se ‘
Q Did he walk slowly after them, or did he run after them?
A Tast walking. ’
Q After them? A I meam the white people fast walked ui"‘.r
Q I am wlking about the way chung Wing walked; did he walk
fast 6r slowly? A Rapid steps.
Q Did he have anything in his hand when he followed them?
A No.
Q Did you see any cigarettes? A No, I didn't,
Q Did you see any money? A No, I didn't.
Q Did younotice down on the street v.vher.e. Ch@g WwWng's
hat was? A I didn't notiee where the ha:ﬁ vas.
Q When he was lying on the ground did chung wWing still have
his hat on his head? A No.
Q What do you mean, that he did not have it? A No, he did
not have the hat on his head. A
Did you see whether or not this def endant had a hat on his
head? A I didn't notice whether he had a hat on or not.
Q Dpid you notice the condition of this def endant's face? A
I saw a scratch on his face when the policeman had hold of him,
Q Where was the scratch? A Right here (indicating left

tanple),

o
4
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Q Was he bleeding? A No.

Q How did you come to notice that scratch? Was it pointed
out to youww A I saw him hsavwe that scratch while we were dowm in
the police station.

Q Were you down on the sidewalk when they lifted up the body
of Chung wing? A I was not ther e,

Q Did you send a chair down from upst:irs? A The doctor amd
police cane up and asked for a chair, and I took the chair down.
Q When you took the chair down where was Chung wing then?

A He was carried into the hallway then,

Q On the chair? A I brought tre char down, but before I
gave the chair to the officer the body was carried into the halle
way by the stairvay..

MR. LEVY: That is all, your Honor,
MR. BROTHERS: Nothing further, That is the People;n
case. We rest,

MR. LEVY: May it please your Honor, I de.sire to place
on the record the motion provided for under Sectiom 410, of
the Code of Criminzl Procedure, upon the ground therein
-8tated.

THE COURT: I will deny the motion,

-MF. IEVY: ZException, please,

DEFENDANT 'S C ASE,
- MR. LEVY: Your Honor, I intend to wave the opening

wi'th your Honmor's permission im the interest of the economy
of time, '
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STEPHEN P, PETTIT, (Freeport, Long Island)
called as a witness on behalf of the defendant, being first duly
sworn, testifies as follows: ;

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, LEVY:

Q What is your full name, if you please? A Stephen P Pettit,

Q And you reside where? A Freeport, New York, .

Q@ That is in Nassau C;unty, isn't -it? A Yes, sir,

Q DO you occupy any official position there? A I do.

Q What is the position you occupy? A Sheriff of Nassau
County.

Q You h;ve been sheriff of Nassau County how long? A Two
years,

Q Have you occupied other positions than sheriff? A Yes.,

Q What positions? A Police magistrate,

Q Magistrate in Freeport? A Yes, sir, and constable down
in Hempstead.

Q@ Do you iﬁow the defendant at the Bar? A 1 do.

Q You have known him some time? ‘A About two years.

Q He is a resident of Hempstead, is he not? )A Hempstead
Village, now,

Q He is in business there, isn't he? A Yes, sir,

Q What business is he engaged in there? A Cigar store.

Q He has been in that business since you have known him?

A TYes, sir,

Q Do you know others who know him? A T do,
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Q@ Do you know what his reputation in the community in which
he lives is for peacefulness and verac;py? A I think I do.

Q State 1t, if you please, to his Honor and the jury.
A Very good.

Q A peaceable man and a truthful man? A Yes.

Q A law abiding citizen? A Yes.

MR, ILEVY: You may examine, Mr, Brothers.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY.MR, BROTHERS:

Q You did not get acquainted with the defendant in your
official capacity, did you, as sheriff? A No, sir,

Q@ But you have only known him since you have been sheriff,
is that correct? A I think so; I know him about two years,

Q But not‘intimately? A Well, .I would not say; quite well,

Q Did you buy cigars of him? A I think I have stopped in
the store at Hempstead a few times.
Q But you know nothing about this occurrence Qn Third avenue?
A Nothing, only what I read in the newspapers.
MR, BROTHERS: That is all.
MR, TEVY: That is all, Sheriff,
ELVIN N, EDWARDS, (Freeport Long Island) called
as a witness on behalf of the Defendant, being first duly sworn,
testifies as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, LEVY:

-

Q You are an attorney and counselor at law? A I am,
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Q And that, of course, is far superior to that of being a

Judge, 1sn;t it? A (No response.)
Q You have practicéd law how long? A Aboui eight years,
Q And you have also occupied an officia; position? A Yes,
Q As what? A As magistrate.
Q@ And you were a judge how long? A I think about a year

and three quarters.

Q@ You know this defendant? A I do,

Q How long have you known him? A About two years; not
quite two years, -

Q You have known him in what way? A Well, I have seen him
nearly every day.

Q He has a store, hasn't he in Hempstead? A Yes,

Q In Hempstead Village? A Yes,

Q@ And Freeport, how far is that from Hempstead? A It is
about four miles. But he lived at Freeport a great deal of the
t ime, |

Q 8So that you had an opportunity to observe him frequently?
A Yes,

Q You know others who know him? A 0h,7yes.

Q@ Do you know what his reputation in the community in Ihioﬁ
he lives is for peaoefuln;as and yeracity? A I do,

Q What is it, please? A Excellent.

Q He is looked upon as a well behaved, law abiding citizen?

A He {is.
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MR, LEVY: You may examine, Mr, Brothers, ‘w

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. BRO’I‘I{ERB;

Q Did you say you 6nce hal been amagistrate? A I was a
magistrate in the village of Freeport.

Q How did you get acquainted with the def endant? A Why,
he used to do some business with a store under my office., I
think he sold them cigars and things of that sort there. I
think he supplied them with cigars, I am not sure about that,
but he was there most every morning and every evening. I got
my newspapers there, so I saw him nearly every day for the last
year and a half or so, until recently,

Q You are not an intimate friend of his? A No.

Q@ You passed the time of day with him? A Yes.

Q Hie friends are not your associates, are they? A I would
say no, in the sense of associates, only that is a term that
might have a varied meaninge.

Q I mean, you don't visit the homes of his friends, and they

do not visit your Home? A No.

Q Just acquaintance; by meeting him in that store? A I
know a number of his friends very well,

Q That is cother people who came in and out of the store? A
Men who ran the store, and the barber and the other people we

have on ouw business streets,

Q@ Do you know his brother? A Xes, sir,
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Q You have known his brother how long? A I think I have

known his brother probably, I don't think I have known the
brother as long &as the def endant.

lQ And not quite so well? A And not quite so well,
BY MR. LE’V’Y;

0 That is a small town in which he has his store? A Yes,
ebout 5,000 population, I a‘ﬁould think,.

Q And I suppose in a mmall town like that, church people,
citizens and residents mingle more or less? A Yés,

Q Then they do in a large city? A Yes.

Q You are juite certun that his reputation is good?
A Excellent,

MR. LEVY: That is all,

JOHN Je MURPHY,(Freeport,Long Island) called as a
witness on behalf of the defendant, being duly eworn, testified
as followsﬁ
DIRECT EXAINATION BY NR. LEVY$

Q@ Mr. Murphy, what is yubr occupation? A Varehouaem\a.n,
and truckman.

Q Where is your place of business? A 50 Front street,

Q How long have you been engeaged in business? About 25 years.

Q Your business place is here in New York? A Yes,

Q Your residence is where? A 93 Broadway, Freeport.

Q How long have you lived there? A Goix:xg t;n three years.

Q Do youknow the def endant? A Yes.
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Q How long have you known him? A Close on to three years,

Q Do you“know othes who know him? A Yes, sir, E

Q Do youknow what his reputation is in your community?

A Very good.
Q With regerd to his peacefulness armd his being a law-abiding
man, and his truthfulness? A Yes, sir.
Q Md that is his reputation in that community the;e?
A Yes, sir,
MR, IEVY: You mggy examine, l(r.Brothrera.»

MR. BROTHFRS: ©Fo que stions.
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LUDVIG BRALL, (Hempstead, Long Island) the def endant,

called as a witness on his own behalf, being first duly sworn,

testifies as follows: e |

DIRFCT EXAIINATION BY MR. MARK ALTER:

Q. How old &are you, Ludwig? A Twenty-six.

Q l(arrie.d?' A Single.

Q Where do you live? A Hempstead, Long Island.

Q How long have you lived there? AI have lived in Hempstead
now about four months. I lived in Freeport bet?r{g that,

Q How long did you live in Freeport? A About two and a half years.

“§° With whom do you live there? A With my partner in business,
Mr. Ernest A. Ashtown.

Q@ Your people and father reside here in the City? A Yes.

Q Your business is what? A Cigars store. I have a retall
store and do a little wholesale business, traveling the Island.
Q Your partner's name ie Ernest Ashtown, is that correct?
A Yes.

Q@ Ludwig, you were born in New York City, were you? A Yes,sir.

Q How many other children are there in the fanily? A There
is three brothers.

Q Older thmlyou? #~-Yes, sir, I am the youngest,

Q Is your mother alive? A No, sir,

Q Father? A Father is alive,

Q Have you ever been convicted of any crime? A No, sir.

Q By that I mean fined, or anything? A Yes; I was not

exectly arrested, but I was told to gppear in the police court




in Freeport for automobile speéding. They had a trap out and
they stopped everybody going over 15 ﬁile; an hour, I"‘l fined
$5 for going 21 miles an hour,

Q That is the extent of your violation of the law during
your entire 1ife? A Yes.

Q You had a Darraque machine or a Ford that time? A A Ford,

Q Do you recall the night in question, or the morning in
question, of this alleged trouble between you and the deceased?
A Yes, sir.

Q Where had you been the night previouS;' were you in town?
A The night before?

Q Yes. A No, sir, not the night before; I was home,

Q At Hempstead? A 'Yes, sir,

Q When did you come to New York City? A I arrived in New
York City, I guess around 10:30,

Q In other words, did you take the train, or come in your
car? A I came in the Ford.

Q@ In your Ford machine? A Yes.

Q Anyone with you? ‘A All alone,

Q Did you have any special purpose in coming to New York?
A Yes,

Q What was your purpose? A To spend the night with my
Brother Adolph, to meet my father at I0 o'clock next morning to
celebrate his 70th birthday, which was on November 1lst.

Q This unfortunate occurrence took place on the birthday of

*
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your father? A Yes.

Q ‘On that day, at 2 o'clock in the morning of that day ==

A Well, I suppose s0o, I don't exactly know the time,

Q- Well, what time did you reach New York City, or what time
did you start away from Hempstead in your car? A I had been
away all day. I had been riding through the Island in the machine
with a friend.

Q Had you been drinking? A VWo, sir, ™

Q By the way, so-as to have it clear in the minds of thé
Court and jury, had you drunk at all that night? A That night?
A That night?

Q Yes. A No, not that night, that morning.

Q Had you drunk at all that morning? A Yes,.

Q What was the extent of your drinking? A I;had one glass
of beer at the New Victoria Hotel. ~1T

Q You are not a drinking man? A No, sir, bt = Bt

Q You never drank to excess? A No, sir,

Q You never have been intoxicated? A No, sir,

Q@ You say you reached New York City what time? A About half
past 10, I don't know exactly.

Q Where did you land, about, that hour? A Why, I landed
at 14th street and Irving place.

Q That is about the place where your brother has his taxi

stand? A Yes.

Q In front of Luchow's Restaurant? A No; I left the machine

-l
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right on the side of the Academy of Music.

Q@ That is the place where your brother has his station?
A In ;hat neighborhood.

Q And that is where you expected to meet him? A Yes,

Q Did you meet him there? A No.

Q Where, in tact; did you meet him? A I did not meet him
until much later, in the New Victoria Hotel in 47th street.

Q How did you come to find him there? A I waited around
on 14th street until, I guess, after 12 o'clock, when another
chauffeur came along. I said, "Have you seen my brother?" He
said, "No, I have not seen your brother, but I saw his car about
half an hour ago standing in front of the New Victoria Hotel on
47th street.® S50 I waited on 14th sireet a little while longer
and he did not come up and I drove my Ford up there.

Q Did you meet your brother? A Yes, I met him,

Q At the New Viotoris Hotel? A Yes, sir.

‘h What did you do there? A He was sitting there with some
friends, I sat down with him and we had one glass of beer and
we smoked a cigar, and conversed a little, and then we left.

Q Where did you go to? A My brother went in his taxi and
I in my car, and we drove to his garage where he kept his car,
on West 12th street, called the Midtown Garage.

" Q Did you place Your car in the garage? A Yes, sir.

Q@ Did your brother leave his there? A Yes, sir,

Q Then you were on foot; where did you go? \A. Then we

e
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walked to the corner of 14th street and Seventh avenue, and took
the crﬁaa town trolley going east,

Q Intending to go where? A Home.

Q Your brother lives where? A 241 Bast 13th street.

Q Is he married? A No, sir,

Q He has lived there quite some time? A Not so very long
I don't think,

Q Had you been to his-house before? A Not that house.

Q@ That was the first time? A Yes., I did not come in very
often,

Q You got on the car, is that correct? A Yes,

Q How far did you ride? A I guess we rode right down to
14th street and Third avenue,

Q His home was on the other side of Third avenue, was it not?
A Yes,

Q What did you get off at Third avenue for? A Well, we
were on the car and my brother suggested we step off and go to
the chop suey restaurant and get something to eat.

Q And you did enter this place on Third avenue betweefh l1l4th
and 15th street? A Yes.

Q Can you recall about what time you reached there? A No,
I would not say, because I don't know,

" Q@ Was the place 1it up? A Upstairs?

Q Yes. A Yes.

"Q Was there a sign outside, "Chop Suey®, or something of that
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sort? A There may be.

Q Was there any notice outside or bills that there was a.
restaurant there? A You could tell by the fixtures on the upper
floor where the restaurant was.

Q@ In Chinese style? A Yes.

Q@ You and your brother entered that place; was it on the
ground floor or the first floor? A The first floor,

Q There was a light in the hallway? A I don't remember.

Q You sat down at a table? A Yes.

Q@ In what portion of the premises, of the room itself, did
you sit, or FP?“@.'h@F,tfﬁle? A T don't remember; it might
have been the second ;r thifd table from the doorway, I don't
just remember.

Q@ Your brother sat at the same table with you, is that correct?
A Yes, sir, i

Q Was there any other person sitting at the table other than
you and your brothér? A T don't recall. I don't think there

was anybody there,

Q I am referring to your own table? A VYo,

¢

Q@ Do you recall now whether any other white per;cns were in
that room, in the restaurant at the time you were there? A 1
don't believe there were,

| Q Vere there any other Chinamen othér than the deceased?
A Yes, 8ir, two other Chinamen,
Q Are those the two men who were on the witness stand?

A Yes, sir.
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Q Who was the first person you spoke to when you entered the
‘place? A My brother, I guess, \\\\\

Q I am referring not to your br_gther, but to the Chinamen
in ‘that place. A The first one I spoke to of the three, when
we got through with the meal, I asked them for a pack of.oigarettel;

Q Which one of the three Chinamen did you or your brother
speak to first in the place? A I guess the first would be I
spoke ;Eo Chung Wing.

Q That is the man who is dead? A Yes,

Q@ Did you dc the talking, or did your brother? A The talking
was, I bought a pack of cigarettes.

Q I am referring now to the time before you got your cigar-
ettes, to the time you sat down to your ;eal. A There was no
talking to the Chinamen at that time,

Q@ You had to give an order, didn't you? A Oh, yes, at that
time my brother ordered the meal,

Q You ordered what? A I ordered charmaine, I think that is
what you call it, :

Q That is a delicicus Chinese dish? A Yes,

Q And your brother ordered what? A Peppered steak,

Q That alsc ies a very delicious Chinese dish? A I never
tried that.

Q You enjoyed your meal? A I did not, because I was not

specially hungry, but my brother wae. I ate my part,

Q And your brother ate hies peppered steak? A Yes,
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Q You had nothing to drink? A Tea.

Q But no intoxicating liquors? A No.

Q The entire bill amounted to what? A 45 cents,-

Q@ Who was to pay the bill? A My bdbrother paid 1t;,,he got
there first; he paid it.

Q Was there a check_handed ocut? A I &on't think there was
any check. I think he walked to the counter.

Q You were in the place how long before the proposition was
made to find out how much was owing the Chinamen for what you
had taken? A I guess it took ue\fifteen to twenty minutes to eat.

Q@ Then did ;ou put your coat cn and arise? A I had my
coat on.

Q And your hat? A I didn't have my hat on.

Q It was on a rack? A I think it was on the seat next to me,

Q@ You and your brother put your hats on and started to walk
to the desk and pay the amount of your bill? A Yes.

Q@ Where is the counter or cash desk? A As you are walking
out, it is to the left.

Q Near the dcor, the exit or entrance door? A Yes.

Q Was there anyone behind the counter? A I think Chung
Wing walked around the back of the counter,

Q Was there a cash register there? A To tell the truth,

I don't remember.
Q Coming back to the time when the order was given, you say

jyyour brother gave the order? A TYes.
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Q For the eatables? A Yes.

Q To the deceased, is that correct? A That is right.

Q How many dishes were served to you; I mean plates, on the
service of your order? A I-think there were two plates and
one bbwl.

Q@ Charmaine is a soup, is it not? A Yes, in a bowl.

Q That is brought in a bowl? A Yes,

Q@ And there is a large dinner plate brought to you at the

time the charmaine is served, or do you take it from the bowl ?
A Take it right from the bowl,
Q@ It is a large and very deep bowl, or a small sized bowl?
A It is a very deep bowl.
Q Was the bowl filled, almost running over, as far as the
soup itself was concerned? A No,
Q Or was there quite some space between the top of the bowl’
and the soup in there? i
MR, BROTHERS: What difference does it make?
MR, ALTER: I will show it in a moment, of the man's
ability to take the plates and carry them around.
THE COURT;: He may answer,
A Well, the soup was not exactly running out, but it was pretty
well filled, I guess.
Q There was soup in the bowl and a plate, and the peppered
steak was brought in on_a platter? A It comes 1q%itajtt10

Chinese dish, and the dish is on a white plate.
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Q That is, two dishes with the steak. The dish with the
stedk aid another place underneath? A Yes. .‘i
Q That mekes four dishes,lis that correct -~ the bowl and the

soup plate, the dish upon which the stesk is put, and mot}(‘r

plate? A You got one too meny; it is three, just e bowl and two

plates.
Q Wwere knives, forks and spoons served to you there? A Yes,

Q@ Brought along by him at the time when the other dishes

were broug:ht?u A Yes,

Q By vwvhom? A By Chung '!:hé.

Q The deceased? A Yes, :

Q Did he place these different receptacles on the table?
A Yes, sir,.

Q When you went over to the desk to pgy your bill, as I un=-
derstand it, your brother intended to pay, or offered some money
for the payment of the bill? A Yes.

Q How much money did he lgy dovm, if any? A He laid down a
haf a dollar,

Q To whom? A To chung Wing.

Q Chung Wing, was he in front of the desk or behind the desk?
A He went behind the desk,

Q How long is this desk? A I could not sgy; that mg be
about ten or twelve feet long.

Q And a cigar counter onm that, as I underst and,

’

A Well, a cigar case on the counter, just a glass case on the

counter.
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Q@ Upon the counter or upon the case, was the money placed?

A On the counter. If I an not misteken there is a rubber mat
lying there, and it was laid on the rubber mat,

Q At the time the money was placed on the counter there was
something said between you and your brother as tc a smoke?
A Yes, .

Q Tell the ‘Jury what that was? A My brother asked me if
I had & cigar or a cigarette with me, so I felt, end I said,

"No, but I will buy a pack of cigarettes,"

Q Did you call for cigarettes? A Yes, sire.

Q You called for a special kind, did you? A Yes, I pointed
in there to a certain cigearette.

Q Acertain kind of cigarette was handed out to you? A' Yes.

Q By vhom? A By Chung Wing.

Q Now, this cowmter or cigar case opens from behind the counter?
A Yes,

Q Is it a 1lid case that you can raise, or must you push the
door? A That I cannot tell you, I don't recsall,

Q Did he raise the top of the case, or was it one of those
pushing doors? A I don't remember that. Wait a minute, = I
think I do; I think he shoved the door and reached hie hand in.

Q After that the cigarettes were placed on the counter? |
A Yes,

" Q How much money did you tender in pgment? A I gave him

" 4
two nickles,

[ T
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Q What happened af ter that? A Why, Chung Wing kept the two
nickles and he &lso kept the five cents change which my brother
was supposed to geta,

Q That is, your brother's bill was forty-five cents for the
eats? A Yes. E

Q Mmd he did not get that fiwe cents piece which he was entitled
to as change from the fifty cent piece? A Yes,

Q What was said then? A Then I said to him, "Just a moment,

I just gave you ten cents", I sald, "You are keeping the other
five." He sald, "Yes, cigarettes 15 cents." I said, "No, no,
ten cents ell over the world." ’

Q@ You are in the cigar business? A Yes.

Q You said ten cents, and the Chinanan said fifteen cents?

A TYes.

Q Dpid you return the cigarettes? A Yes, sir, af ter he
insisted on keeping the five cents.

Q What did you say tc him in reference to the fifteen cents?

A He said, "If you don't went to pay it, give me the cigaretts
back®, and I gave him the cigarettes back.,

pid you do'that? A ves. I guess the cigarette tfx was
opens I was about to hun(d & cigerette to my brother, and I
closed the box and gave the cigarettes back, and got our money
backe.

0 He gave you the ten cents back, and left the five cents

for your brother? A Yes,

T
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Q What hajpened af ter that? A He said, "Cigarettes cost
fifteen cents all over, fifteen cents."™ He said, "I bet you,
I bet you", he said.

Q ‘Who said that? A Chung wing. He said, "I bet yow" My

brother went down in his pocket and got out some money? He sald,

"All right, I bet you. I bet you $25,"

Q He szid that to the Chinapa.n? A Yes.

Q He took $25 and laid it on the counter? A Yes.

Q What did the ghinaman sgy? A Chinaman sald, "Dirty money."

Q Any other remark made about your money? A No, he kept
sgying "Pirty money".

Q Anything @aout American? A He sald, "Dirty money®, My
brother said, "What do youmean?" So he sad; he flared up, he
sald, "Dirty money, get out of here, you American son-of-a~
bitches™, he said.

Q What did your brother say? A My brother said, "Go on,
you momkey, you won't say that downstairs.®

Q He called him a monkey, and your brother said, "You won't
say that downstairs"? A Yes.

Q was anything else said immediately after that? 'A No.

Q. What did your brother do af ter he called him a monkey?

A He started walking downstairs.

Q Mxious to get out of the place? A Yes,

Q Then what did you do? A I started to follow him,

-

Q What became of Chung Wing? A Chung wing was angry. He
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pulled off his apron and put on hie hat and coat and started out

af ter my brother, started shoving him,
 What became of the other two Ghinamen in the place? 'A With
that the other two Chineamen ceame out; that is, went up to them.
Q Were they going slowly or in a hurry? A They got there
before I did; they blocked the way that I could no t get out.
Q So that your brother was out first? A Yes.
Q There were three phinamen &f ter him, and then you came?
A Yess .
Q Did you all reach the street about the same time? A No, sir,
Q When yougot down staires what hgpened as far as any

trouble was concerned? A One of the chinamen kicked my brother

when he was about two steps down from the landing. Then my
brother ran ddwnstairs, end the 3 Chinamen af ter him, and I was
last, |

Q In fat, you had had no wrds with the Chinaman; you did
not call him a monkey or say anything to him? A No, sir.

{ 0 that there was no feeling, as fa as you know, xaingt
you? A No, I gave my cigarettes back and got my money back.

y When you got outeside, what hgpened? A When I got oute
side, I looked towards l4th street, and I saw three Chinamen
spring at my brother, three of them,

Q How long a time did that teke, after you had the tr ouble?
A About aminute or so,

Q They were in a scranble? A Yes, sir,

¥
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Q All four of them? A Yes, all in a general mix-up,

Q Then what did you do? A They were punching and k:l.cking
and I ran over to him and I started pullfng for my brother, got
hold of one and pulled him, and got hold of enother and pulled
him. Then somebody atr{{;k me in the back of the neck, one of
them.

Do you know whether that was with the fist, or some in-
strument? A I don't know whether it was a fist or not,

Q Some hard substance? A I don't know. It was so suddenly.

Q Wwere you hit any place, any other place on your body? A Yes.
>

Q Where? A I was struck here, (Witness indicates left tem=-

ple) I felt a sharp pain., I don't'know whether it was done by
any instrument, or with fingernails, I could not tell you, I
know my hat fell off.

Q Did you bleed? A Yes, I bled; that is, I felt up there
end the blood was on my fingers.

Q Were you ever knocked toc the ground during the melee? A
Yes, I steggered and fell on that blow vhen I was hit in the teme
ple.

Q What became of your cep? A The cap fell off and fell on
the sidewalk,

Q What then? A I looked and saw the oflficen'a coming, and
they got up, stumbled and fell right at the feet of Of ficer
Peattie.

Q puring this mix-up, or during thie so-called mix-up, did
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you strike the deceased? A I might have struck him, but I

don't know whether I didor nots I know I was pulling him out

in the general mix-up, and I might have struck him,

Q At the time you clam you might have struck him, you were
being struck yourself? A Yes.

Q@ Your forehead or temple was cut? A Yes.

Q@ Your brother was being struck by three Chinamen? A When he
was on the ground they were punching and kicking him, when I
sprang into the affair.

Q@ You had no feeling against the Chinamen? A No,.

Q You never had any trouble with them before? A No.

Q As far as you know your brother never had any? A I
don't think he ever did. \

Q You heard the testimony of some of the witnesses, that
you deliberately turned around from where these two Ghinamen
were with your brother and struck at the deceased who was some
few feet away fruam you, is that true? A No, sir,

Q Thatis not true? A I did not walk at all. Everything I

did was done right in the one spot where I was standing. I
was pulling the Chinapan away, end I felt the blow, and I 8trvik and
felt this pain and I fell,

Q Dic; you strike Chung wing, the deceased, because of a
cry for help, or di d you ﬁear ény cry for help at that time?

A No, there was no cry for help.

MR. ALTER: - That is all, your witness.
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-y L ‘
CROSS EXALINATION BY MR. BROTHERS:

Q¢ Did you ever live in New Yori: Qity? A Yes, sire.
Q Vhere? A I lived at 1544 Second avenue,
'Q How long ago was that? A I have not lived in the City
for quite awhile; I guess ten years or so,
Q What kind of cigarettes did you order? Au\"Sc\hinaai
Pre:tieat" is the name,
Q He served you"Schinasi Naturals", didn't he? A No, sir,
' Q "Schinasi Naturals" are fifteen cents, aren't they? A No,
thirteen,
Q You would not expect % go into a restawrent and get them
for thirteen cents? A I don't know,
Q You could get th-an for thirteen cents, perhaps, at the
Uﬁited Cigar store? A I can get them any place far thirteen.
Q Any restaurant too? A I should imagine I could.
Q But, as I understand it, from your story, you gave the
cigarettes back, anmd you got your money back? A Yes.
Q :‘»O that there was no further need of any quarrel at all?
A No, there was not any need.
Q Nobody wes out of pocket at all? A No,
Q You had your money and the Chinaman had his cigarettes? A
Correct.
Q And yet you say that these Chinamen followed you and your
brother into the street? A Yes, sir,

——

Q And picked a fight with him on the sidewalk? A No, the
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fight was picked upstairs. I told you a&out the dirty money,
Q well, the three Chinamen went out and set upon your brother
out upon the street? A Yes.,
Q Was there anything to prevent their fighting with him in
the restawrant? A Yes,
Q What? A His running. awaye. ‘
Q Oh, he ran out, did he? A He wadked quick, or rane
Q Didn't he run out because you had the cigarettes amd you
were going to skin the Chinanen‘ out of five cents? A No, sir.
Q Md that is why he ramn? A No, sir.
Q Your brother was not araid of these Chinanen, was he?
A He was not trying to get into any fight.

Q You didno trun out, did you? A No, I had no cause to run.
Q You wére mbt afraid? A Why should I? I didn't have any
ergunent wi th the ghinamen,

Q But your brother ran out, is that so? A Yes, sir.:

Q He went so fast they could not catch him until he got out
on the sidewalk? A well, they might have catched him; he got
kicked on the stairway’

Q But you did not see that, A Oh, yes, I did,

Q On this narrow stairway you saw that? A Yes.

Q You were the last one; your brother was at the foot of the
stairs? A I didnot say at the foot of the stairsj; two steps
from the upper landing of the stairs.

§ He was two steps from the upper landing? A Yes,
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Q Md the Chinamen were between you and your brother? A

Yes.
Q And you saw one of them kick your brother? A Yes, sir,
Q Md you saw one of them kick your brother? A Yes, sir.
Q Of courwe he did not turn around and retaliate, did he?
A Who?
Q Your brother? A No, sir,
Q What didhe d0? A He ran downstairs,

Q Just as fast as he could go? A I don't know whether it

was as fast as he could go.

Q He made a lot of noise going down the wooden stairs, didn't
he? A They did make some noise, naturally,

Q When he got on the street did he continue to run? A
That I could not tell you,

Q@ Mmd these .chinamen were facing yod? A Yes, sir,

Q And you were facing the Chinamen? A No.

Q It was a regular procession down the stairs? A I was
not chasing anybody. I ran down the stairs.

Q To see whatwas up? A well, I kind of felt, I knew what
was up. I wanted to protect my brothéi,

Q You felt something was poing to happen? A Positively.

@ What made you think that? A The three pghinamen running
after my brother,

Q You had been in there before? A In that restar ant?

Q .Yes. A Once or twice before.
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Q. You had trouble there before? A No, )
Q@ You and your brother? A Positively not,

Q mdn't you have trouble over change before in that ree
taurant? A No, sir, never,

Q You say your brother took out twenty-five dollarg,ard put
end put it down on the counter and he said he would bet twentye
five doll ars thai he could buy those cigarettes far ten cents
anywhere? A Yes, on the lnvitation to bet, by the Chinamen.

Q Did he take the $25 with him when he went out? A Yes, sir.

Q What did the gchinaman say when he layed that $25 down on
the counter? A "Dirty money; dirty money®,

Q@ That seemed to anger ycur brother?, A gslightly, yes.

Q He got mad right avay? A No, slightly angry.

Q In fact, he tocld the phinaman he would not dare come dowm
on the sidewalk &and call him a son of a bitch, didn't he? A He
did not use your wards.

Q He saild, "You won't dare sagy thaton the sidewalk®™? A
You won't dare sgy that :10 wmstairs."

Q In other words, he invited him out on the sidewalk? A Not

necesvarily.

Q That is the way you took it? A Not I.

QIWas wvhat he saild then that made you afraid when they went
dowm on the strect there would be trouble? A No,

Q At that moment you thought everything was peaceful, did

you? A I thought it would end all right.
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Q But your brother was angry? A I thought he was slightly
angry,. naturallye.

Q You were angry too, weren't yo® A No.

Q How did you feel about it? A I felt perfectly normal,
There was nothing to mske me feel out of sorts,

Q Your feeclings didn't rise at all, beceause the Chinamem

called you a son-of-a=bitch; that didn't anger you in the least?

A You are getting ahead of it; up to that time he had not
é
called my brother a son-of=-a-bitche

Q I an telking sbout the time he did call him that? A Cer-

tainly I felt a little angry to that.

Q@ 7You got sore about it? A Slightly,

Q What didyou say? A I did't say anything.

Q What did youdo? A I didn't do anything. I stood right
there. My brother did the talking; I didn't do any of its

Q - Your brother seemedtc be the one that did all the talking,
is that right? A Yes, he did it all, -

Q In fact, he said to him, "You monkey, you won't say that
to me downstairs®, that is what he sald? A Yes.

Q How did the Chinanan take that? A He got very angry too.

Q What did he sgy? A WwWell, he didnot sgy anything, but
shoved him, shoved my brother,

Q While he was back of the cigar counter? A Yes, he got
around and shoved him. '

4

Q How did he shove him? A Pushed him,

>
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Q@ In‘which direction? A Towards the door.

Q Tried toget him to go out, is that so? AI don't know

what he wanted to do.

2
Q He pushed him towards the entrance? A I;s; I don't know
exactly whether directly towards the entrance, but in that direc-

tion,
@ Dpid yow bdbrother go then? A Yes.
Q He did not resist, of course? A No.
Q You took no part in anything there? A No, sir.
Q Your brother then started to run? A Yes.
Q Axd was it then when your b.rothe r started to run that Chung
Wing went and got his hat and coat? A I don't knowi f it was
: exactly that time or not,

Q When was it he got his hat and coat? A When he shoved

my brother he took his apron off and threw it away and put on

his coat and hat,

Q What was your brother doing ell that time? A That only
took a couple of seconds, I guess.

Q Wwell, he had to untie his apron? A No, not untie it
specially.

Q He took it off? A Yes.

Q Then he had to teke his coat dowm? A Yes. .

Q /Md put his coat on? A /Xes.

Q Then he had to reach out and get his hat and put that on?

Q He put his coat and hat on the sane time? A What I mean, he

[N

got the coat and hat at one time &nd put the hat on.
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Q While he was doing that, what were you and your brother
doing? A My brother was going out.

Q XNow, which Chinaman kicked him? A I don't know; I could
not tell you that,

Q It certainly was not Chung Wing, was it? A I don't know;
he was the first one there, I think it was him,

Q If your brother went very quickly, how did Chung Wing over-
take him? A He did not go quick out; he walked very gradually.

Q You paid your bill and your business was completed? A Yes,

Q There was nothing then to keep you in the restaurant? A l‘.

Q Why didn't you go on about your business? A Because I
could not go.

Q Why not? A Well, when Chung Wing got to the upper landing,
then the other two Chinamen entered the thing.

Q Did he call anything tc those other Chinamen? A ©No, he
did not call(them.

Q Of course, you were not frightened at all then? A I was
notvfrightened -~ yes, at that I was, when I saw three Chinamen
blocking the landing, blocking the door, and I could not get out,

Q Had your brother gotten out then? A Yes, he was about two
steps down, when he was kicked.

Q You' were still in the restaurant? A Yes, oir;

Q How in the world ccould you see anybody kick your brother
then; you were in the restaurant? A I was in the ?eltnurunt,

standing at the door; I could look down,
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Q These fellows were blocking the passagg way? A Yes; on
the platform; yoq}could not go downstairs less you go by way
of the platform. I call it the landing of the stairs. ¢ 4

Q It is a very narrow place? A Yes.

Q You could not tell us which Chinaman kicked him? A No,

Q What part of him did he kick? A He kicked him in the shin
(indicating).

Q@ The man that kicked him was standing above him? A Yes,

Q And he kicked him in front of the shin? A Yes,

Q And your brother was going downvthe stairs? A Backing
down.

Q He was backing down? A Yes. ,;'

Q@ I thought you said he hurried downeggira. A After he was
kicked.

Q The' kick did not hurry him, did it? A I guess it did.

Q Did the Chinaman reach downstairs with his foot and kiek
him in the shin, or did he just launch the kick right out?

A This way, straight. (Indicating.)

Q And your brother was several steps below the Chinaman?
A T did not say that; -- one or two steps down,

Q Do you want to change that? A I did not sﬁy several,

Q Didn't you say the Chinamen was on the landing and that
your brother was several steps down from the landing? A A step
or two down, If I said several, I didn't mean it; -~ a step

or two dowm.
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Q How far behind the last Chinaman were you as you were going

downstairs? A Practically no distance; I was standing right

there,

Q You saw tﬁe back %ithe last Chinamen going downgfairl,

3

didn't you? A Yes.

Q How far behind him were you when you went down? A They

were running down; I was not specially running down. They

were running down,

Q Were you on the stairs at the same timT/tnat the last

Chinaman was on the stairse? A Yes.

Q How.far. away from him were you; one or two steps? A No,

I guess a little more than that; five, or six, or seven steps.

Q You kept right along? A Yes.

Q When you got on the sidewalk what did you see? A 1 saw

three Chinamen springing at my brother,

Q Springing at him? A Yes,
Q What was he doing at that moment? A My brother? 4

Q Yes., A He was not doing anything, standing there withj

his face towards thf Chinamen.

A

Q In what position was he? A A standing position,
Q Did he have his hande in front of him to repel the attack?
Yes,

@ Or with his hands down? A No, sir; I suppose ready to

repel the attack.

Q He had his fists up? A I don't now whether he had his
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fists ecleénched or not. >

Q 7You were looking right at him? A Not specially.

Q Why can't you tell us? A I was not looking right at him,

Q@ Who were you looking at? A I was looking at them all;
no one in particular.

Q Tell us what your brother was doingr A I told you he was
standing there.

Q You say three Chinamen sprang at him? A Yes.

Q@ VWhat do you mean by that? A They jumped at him; they
rushed for him,

Q Jumped at him? A I do noéu;:al‘lh it a jump, they went at
him in a general mix-up, and my brother fell down.

Q He fell dowmn? A Yes.

Q@ You didn't tell that a little while ago when Mr, Alter
was examining you, did you? A I did not say the way he fell down,

Q@ You paid you fell down; did he fall down toco? A I was
not at the scene., I could not tell very well just at this time,
I was not near the affray at that time,

Q I don't want to have any misunderstanding; three Chinamen
went at your brother and he fell dowmn? A They all fell,

Q The whole four of them? A Yes,

Q In a heap? A Yes.,

Q What were you doing? A I ran towarde the scene,

Q What:did you do? A I pulled the Chinamen away from my

bro1hér.
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Q As you reached down to take hold of the Chinamen, what
were they doing down there on the ground? A Punching and kicking,
Fighting and punching.

Q TYou reached for the nearest figure, I suppose.

Q Who Qid you get hold of? A I could not tell you that;
it happened so quick.

Q What did you do then? A I pulled him away from my
brother, one with the left hand and another one with the right
hand.

Q You were strong enough to pull two struggling Chinamen away,
one with each hand, just pulled them right away? A Not at one
time,

Q Did you get them up on their feet? A No, just pulled
them away.

Q Did they get up on their feet? A Yes.

Q What became of the third Chineman? A I don't know what
became of him,

Q Was Chung Wing among that group of three that you wrestled
with? A Yes,

Q Was he one of the two that you pulled away? A I could
not tell you that, I don't know, I am positive the one I pulled
away was the stout Chinaman,

Q That big, burley Chinaman? A Yes.

(My, Brothers airecte Hoosun Lee to stand up in the

eourt room,)
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Q He was flat on the sidewalk kicking and squirming? A He

was on them, yes. fleie

'

Q You pulled him away with one hand, is thet right? A Yes,

Q Which hand? A I don't know whether it was the left or
the right; I pulled him away. .

Q@ Then was he the first one you pulled away or the second?
A That is kind of hard to remember,

Q In fact, you cannot remember even striking a blow, can
you? A Yes, I struck a blow.

Q Who did you strike? A I don't know. 4

Q I understood you to say you had not any recollection at
all of striking anybody, didn't you say that? A I said I was
struck in the back of the neck and I struck. Them I was hit and
I fell,

Q You said, "I might have struck him, but I haven't any
recollection of it."; is that true; tell us who the man was
that- you struck? A I don't know,

Q Have you a recollection now of having landed a blow On any=-
body? A It struck somewhere, but where, I don't know,

Q Tet us see if we can find out when it was; was that while
the man was lying down, or after they had gotten up? A After
they had gotten up. »

Q When they gpt up, you could look right inte their faces,

of course, couldn't you? A Not all of them; they were not all

in front of me,
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Q Well, the man you struck was of course in front of you?
A Not necessarily.

Q You had to look at him in order to strike; didn't you take
any pains to see wherqyou werestriking him at al1? A No.

Q It was a critical! moment, and you wanted to get good exe-
cution with your blow, didn't you; didn't you want to see that
it landed somewhere? A I didn't have a chance., I was struck
in the back of the head and I struck, but where the blow landed,
I don't know; I could not tell you., Then I got a blow on the
side of the head and I staggered and fell,

Q You could not tell us whether your hand came in contact
with a man's body or his head? A No, I could not tell you that,

Q Did your brother strike anybody? A Not that I saw,

Q What was he doing on the sidewalk there; wasn't he doing
anything at all? A On the sidewalk?

Q Yes. A Yes,

Q At any time? A Yes.

Q@ In the beginning? A Yes, he was underneath three Chinamen,

Q Wheﬁ they zot up, what was he doing? A I guess he was
getting up too,

Q He got up too? A Yes,

Q Then what did he do? A I don't lnow what he did.

Q Now, you remember that you didn't make any complaint in
the magistrate's court that these Chinamen had assaulted you and

your brother? A I did not have a chance to say a word there,
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Q Not a chance? A No. L S

Q You were there when the magistrate said to the officers,
"Measure the wound on this man's face so that yow may give him
a good fair trial™ A Yes.

Q And that magistrate who was so fair as that, would not
give you a chance to enter: a compiaint against these men? A 1
entered it before that.

Q@ Did you know the magistrate? ‘A No, sir,

Q@ What was his name? A Magistrate McQuade, I think it was,

Q He is a personal friend of your brother's, isn't he?

A I don't know,

Q@ You know his name just as well as you know your own, don't
you? A No, I den't; I don't know the man,

Q You have seen him in the court room since the trial started,
haven't you? A Yes, sir,

Q You saw him here? A Iy brother told me it was him,

Q He is a friend of your brother's, isn't he? A You will
have to ask my brother that; he is not a friend of mine,

Q And that man did not give you a chance, or the City Magis~-
trate did not give you-a chance to enter a complaint that these
Chinamen had assaulted you and your brother? A It was not ne-
cessary; a complaint'had been made before that.

Q Where did you make the complaint? A At the police station,
I wanted to make it against these Chinamen for being in the fight,

The Lieutenant said that I could not make the complaint, that I

~

S
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was held for felonious assault., Then I turned to the officer,

I said, "Officer, you know these two Chinamen were in the fight

. too, why don't you arrest them?® Officer Peattie said, "Yes,

I will make the charge against the two Chinamen." He stepped
forward and made a charge against the two Chinamen.

Q Where was that done? A At the police station,

Q@ Do you recall that the lieutenant said that if you had
any such complaint to make, to make it to the police court judge?
A No, I don't think he said that, What he did say was that I
was held for felonious assault and I could not make it, make a.

charge; that is what I understood.

Q@ But you are making it now, aren't you, that these Chinamen/
assaulted yvou and your brother? A Making the charge now?

Q Yes, you are making the accusation? A Yes,

Q@ You are having a complete opportunity to make it? A Yes,

Q Nobody is preventing you from telling all you want to
about this matter now? A ' No, sir,

Q And in fact, you talked to the Assistant District Attorney
very shortly after this occasion, with Mr, Deuell? A Yes, sir,

Q° On the second day of November? A Yes, sir,

Q At 2:20 p, m. A Yes,

’“‘And he asked you what happened, didn't he? A Yes, sir,

Q Do you remember telling him anything about striking any
Chinamen? A I told him I don't know whether I struck or not;

if I remember right,
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Q Have you ever had any experience in boxing? A No,
Q Have you any recollection at any time in your life that
you ever struck another person with your fist? A Not clinched,
Q@ Did you ever strike anybody? A Yes, when I was very
young, I guess I did,
Q@ 7You had a distinct recollection of it afterwards, didn't
you; you could remember that you had struck such and such a boy?
A Yes,
Q@ And yet, you could not remember the day -after this occur-
rence, when you were talking to Mr, Deuell, that you had struck
anybody? A That was a different thing; there were three or
four people in the crowd when I was hit, and I struck, if I re-
member right, I struck blindly; I don't know where I struck,
if I did strike:
Q Now, let us see if you toid this to Mr, Deuell, I will
read it to you slowly and you can then see whether it accords
with your recollection,
MR, TEVY: If it is in contradiction, I will make no
cbjection; +4f it is not in contradiction, I must object to it.
MR, BROTHERS: It seems to me that would be a question
for the jury.

MR, TEVY: But you may read to the jury matter which may
later develop to be incompetent,

THE COURT: It may be an amplification of this statement

already made, just the same as if he were interrogated more

K Lully regarding it.
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Q@ Did you say anything to Mr, Deuell about your dbrother put=-

ting down $25 cash on the counter? A I don't know whether I

told him $25, or whether I told him he put money down,

Q Did you tell Mr. Deuell anything about these.men, all
doﬁn on the sidewalk in a heap on top of your brother? A Posi-
tively.

Q You did? A Yes, sir,

Q Is this what you told Mr, Deuell about your brother; ==

(reading): ™So my brother went down and I followed, and when
I got down I saw three Chinamen sparring at my brother and thre;
of them went for him, so naturally I went over and tried to
separate them, I didn't want to aée my brother get hurt.* 1Is
that what you said to Mr, Deuell? A Something to that effect.
Q You do not dispute that you said that, do you? A I will
not say word for word,
Q He had a stenographer there writing it down, didn't he?
A He did,
Q (Reading.) ™So with that, this Chinamen that was hurt,
he sprang for me.," That is Chung Wing, isn't it? A Yes, sir,
Q (Reading.) "So with that, this Chinaman that was hurt, he
sprang for nie, and I don't‘Lnow whether he hit me with his hand
or whether he had an instrument that hurt me (indicating eye).®™
Do you remember you put your hand to your eye and to your face?

A Yes.

Q (Reading.) “But anyhow, I fell down, and the next thing
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I knew, I was picked up by an officer and I really didn't know
that this Chinaman was hurt until about two minutes after, and
then some one came up to the officer and said =~ 'You better
attend to this man, he sgems to be hurt', and then I looked
around and saw the Chinaman lying there.®. 1Is that what you
told Mr, Deuell? A The latter part is right.

Q Didn't you tell it all to him as I read it? A I could
not say if it is exactly right; it may be right,

Q@ You were trying to tell Mr, Deuell the triith, were you?

A Yes, posit;vely.

Q Why didn't you tell him that these men were all in a heap.
It says there they were all in a general mix-up, I pulled them
apart to protect my brother, I a@ saying the same thing now in
substance,

Q Today you said you didn't know who the man was that
struck you, and you told Mr, Deuell the day after'it happened, ==~
®This Chinaman that was hurt, he sprang for me.," A I didn't
say that,

Q@ You swear you did not say that to Mr. Deuell, positively?
A I would not say positively, but I think I said I thought that
the Chinaman was the one that sprang at me, I still think so,

Q Didn't you see his gold eyeglasses on his face as he faced
yoﬁ? A He did not have any eyeglasses on; I did not see any.

Q Didn't the man that waited on you and talked about the

cigarettes, have gold spectacles on his face? A Upstairs he did,
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Q@ And he had them on down in the street when you punched him?
A No, no, I didn't see any, if he had them,

Q Will you swear he did not have them on? A I would not
swear he did not, but I don't think he did,

Q@ The man that faced you, that you struck, was the man you
had the argument with, wasn't he? A That I struck?

Q Yes. A I don't know whether I struck him or not.

Q@ I would like to understand whether you struck anybody or
not? A I believe I struck somebody, but who, I don't know,

.I am telling you when I got struck in the back of fhe head I
struck into the heap, I don't know who I hit, because I think
I was justified in striking, for the reason I was being struck.

Q@ Did you have your back to tﬁ&s crowd of Chinamen when you
were struck in the back of the head? A No, but part of them
werévin front. There was somebody in back struck me. I am
pretty sure it was one of the Chinamen,

Q Did you say anything to: Mr, Deuell about anybody str{#ing
you in the back of the head? A I don't remember whether I did
or not,

Q Well, you did not, did you? A I don't know whether I
did or not,

Q You said this Chinaman that was hurt, sprang for you, and
you fell down? A Correct.

it .
Q@ But you never told Mr, Deuell a word about striking at any-

body, did you, isn't that right; would you like to read it?
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A I will take your word for it.

Q It i3 not here, that you struck anybody? A Oh, it is
not there?

Q You can read it over if you like., You will not find
you said a word to Mr, Deuell about striking any Chinamen,
A It was a general mix-up, as I am telling you. I was
pulling one, and I was hit and swung, and I don't know
whether I hit anybody §r not,

Q When you got through swinging, what happened; where
were you? A I was still standing there,

Q I thought you fell down? A Not at that time, Then

after that I was struck on the temple.

Q Was it after you were struck on the temple that you fell

dowmn? A Yes, "

Y
Q Then you got up, did you? A No, I don't know whether
I got up. The officers rushed in then. I don't know whether
I tried to get up or stayed dowmm. The officer picked me

off the ground.
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Q He testified you ran into his arms? A No, I did not do

thate
Q Have you any scar on your face? A Not now, no.

Q Your hand was pretty lane next dgy, wasn't it? A No.

Q 1t was not? A Noe.

Q When you struck, did you close your fist up? A The
chances are I did, but I don't remember doing that.

Q What were you doing in that restaurant at that hour of the
morning, anyway? A Getting something to eat.

Q You don't usually eat at half past two in the morning, do
you? A No, sir., Do youmean a reason for being out that
1l ate?

Q No, why were youeating at that hour? A My brother sug'-
gested it. He said, "Let us have something to eat", and I

had some thing to eat with him,

Q You had been in the New Victoria Hotel at about twklve
o'clock, drinking beer? A prinking a glass of beer; one glass.
Q@ 8o that there was no rsason why you could not eat up
there? A No, ne did no t suggest eating up there. That is the

reason we did not eat there,

Q Now, as I understand it, there is no claim but what you
hed a dispute in this restauwrant, asbout the cigarettes, or
that the dispute was had between you and your brother and the
Chinamen about the cigarettes? A There was a dispute over the

price of cigarettes.
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Q There was quite a noise in the street over this fight,
wam't there -- yelling? A No, I don't think there was any
yelling at all, ~

Q Dpidn't youhear any one yell? A Noe.

Q Not a sound? A I will not say there was not a sound.

Q Isn't that what made you so mad to see this yelling
Chinaman yelling for the police? A No, he did not yell,

Q How do you know? A I was there,

Q You camnot remember swinging your fists and landing a blow
on the man's head, but you can remamnber nobody yelled; how can
you account for that? A To the best of my recollection I did not
hear anybody yell, To the best of my recollection I will not
positively say whether I struck or not., Everything I am telling
you is the best of my recollection,

Q@ You made no complaint to the officers when they arrived,
did yow A About what? 5

Q@ About anything? A No.

Q@ You kept perfectly Euiet until you got before the lieutenant,

is that right? A Yes, practiczlly.

Q Now, if you had been set upon by these 8hinanen, you and
your brother, and the police came in their uniforms to the
scene, why didn't you right then and there charge these men
and sgy, "Officer, arrest these men, they have been assalting
us,” Instead of that you kept quiet, Why did you do that?

A I thpought they were under arrest.
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Q You knew you were under arrest? A Yes, and I thought

they were, which they were.

) Why didn't you tell the officer what was going on? A They
did not ask me what was going one.

'Q You are old enough to be able to talk for youself without
being asked? A It was not necessary to say anything there; I
could do it when I got to court.

_ CL But you didno t do it when you got to court, did yw? A
Certainly.

Q Were you real mad when you struck with your fist, that
time?"‘A It is kind of hard to tell,

Q ﬁat are you amiling about? A I am not smiling. It is
just an expression,

Q You were not amiling when you struck that blow? A No.

Q You hit as hard as you could? A That I could not sgye.

Q Don't you know how hard you struck? A No.

Q Had youever seen that Chinaman before that night? A To

the best of my recollection I had note I had been in the res=
taurant once or twice.,

Q He was old wasn't hey  rather feeble? A Not that I noticed.

Q Didn't you notice he walked very slowly and handled him-
self like a cripple? A No, I didn't notice that. He walked up
end laid down the plate and knives and forks the sane as anybody

else would.

Q Now, your purpose in coming to the pity was to attend a
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birthda.y celebratiom the next dgy? A Yes.

Q Md you camne all the wgp.from Hempstead? A Yes.

Q That is not very far, i‘s_‘_it. Hempstead? Heglf & hour on
the train? A It is more.than half an hour ’on the train; about
fifty minutes,

Q What time did you leave Hempstead to go to New York on
the night you cane here? A I left Hempstead very early in the
day. I had been out in the machine taking a ride all afternoon.

Q@ You had been all over Long Island in that new Ford? A It
was not a new Ford.

Q You only had it a little while? A I had it more than a
lit tle while. I was out riding ground.

Q You got into the ity at what time? A I guess around tem
or half past,
Q In the night? A Yes.

Q What did you want to come over at that time? A I was out
riding on the way to New Yoxk, andI figured I would spend
the night with my brother, meeting my f ather the next morning
at 10 o'clock by sppointment.

Q You could just as well have left the car at home and come
over next morning, couldn't you? A Yes.

Q You had been out carousing all afterncon and evening?

A No.
Q@ Having a good time? A !'ea.

Q Up around 47th strect, in the Tenderloin? A No; no, hir.
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Q You were whooping it up, so to sagy? A No, sir.

Q When this Chinaman had the temerity to call your fellows

out of your nane it made your blood boil, and you got sore?
A It made us feel a little sore, poaitively.
Q Md when you hit him, you hit him as hard as you knew how?

A I don't know gbout that. I might have. : :

Q What day of the week was it you left Hempstead® A I don't
remanber the day, Saturday or Sunday.
THE COURT: The calendar will show,
Q Sundygy was the firstes A It was on a Sundgy,
Q Then you left on Sunday? A Yes, You could not do any

carousing on Sundaye

ERNEST ASHTOVWN (Hempstead, Long Island) called as
a ‘witness on behalf of the defendant, being first duly sworn,
testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAIIN AFION BY MR. LEVY:
Q Mr, Ashtown, where do you live? A Hempstead.

-,Q' What is your occupation? A Cigar dealer,

Q What is your place of buginess? A Main street, 49 Main
street.

Q Are you engaged in business with any one? A Mr. Brall,

Q With the defendant in this agtion? A Yes.

Q You have been his partner how long? A Since the 15th
of October, 1915, Three months the 15th of this month,

Q Have you known him any length of time? A JAout between
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three and four years.
\

Q Where have you known him, what places? A I met“him when

he moved to Freeport. I used to meet him quite often and
being’ in the sane cigar business I used to buy cigars from him.

Q That is how your acquaintanceship ripened into friendship?
A Yes. ,

Q Mmd subsequently you becane partners? A Yes. v

Q 710 Yyou knowmany of his friends? A Yes, quite a good many.

Q You have mingled with him in business and in social circles?
A Yes.

Q@ Do you know what his reputation is for peaceableness and
truthfulness? A If I did not think he was truthful, I would
not have t &ken him as a partner,

Q You have found him a truthful man? A Yes, sir.

Q Apeaceful man? A Yes.

Q@ Do you live in Freeport now? A Hempstead.

Q At Hempstead the def endant occupies a room in your house?
A Yes.,

Q Are you married? A Yes.,

Q You occupy a house there? A Yes.

Q Md he lives at the house? A He roams with me. .

MR, LEVY: You may examine, Mr, Brothers,

MR. BROTHERS: I have no que stions, /

I SIDORE BRALL -(1046 Lexington avenue), called as a

witness on behalf of the defendant, being first duly sworn,
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testified as follows:

DIRECT EXA(INATION BY MR. LEVY:

Q Mr, Brall, you are the father of this defendant? A Yes.

Q How old is your boy? A He is twenty-six.

Q Where wer e you born? A In Germany.

Q Md you have been in the United Sates how long? A Fifty-
two years,

Q You have three sons? A I have four sons,

Q@ Mmd this boy is the youngest, the def endant? A Yes.

Q On the 1lst of November, 1915, was that your birthdgy? A Yes,
I was seventy years old,

Q Was it intended on that day to have a reunion of your
fanily? A Yes, that is the reason he cane here,

MR. LEVY: That is all, you can exanine, Mr, Brothers. -

CROSS EXA{INATION BY MR. BROTHERS:
Q Have you any separ ate bedrooms up in your house? A Noj
I got one large room at 1046 Lexington avenue,
4, You live there all alone? A I ain't got no wife. The
mother of my children is dead. A
Q You live there by yourself? A Yes.
MR. BROTHERS: That is all,

MR, LEVY: May I ask your Honor to suspend at this

point?

THE COURT: Gentlemen of the jury, you are admoni shed
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not to converse anong yourselves on any subject connected

with this trial or form or express any opinion thereon
until the sane .is submitted/ to youe.
The court stands adjourned to Monday morning at

/’ half past ten o'clbck.

(The Court takes an adjournment to Mondgy, Jeanuary

10th, 1916, at 10:30 o'clock a. m.)
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THE PEOPLE vs. LUDWIG BRALL.

»

New York, January 10th, 1916.

TRIAL CONTINUED,

ADOLPH BRAULL, (241 Bast 13th street) a witness swrn
in behalf of the defendant, testified as follows:

DIRECT BEXAMINATION BY MR. ALTER:

How old are you, Adolph? A Thirty-three years old.

Your business is what? A I am a chauffeur.

In business for yourself? A Yes, sir.

"You own a taxi-cab, do you? A Yes, sir,

o o O O o

DO you own any more than one? A No, sir.
Q You do your own work? A Yes, sir.
Q And you are a brother of the defendant? A Yes, sir.
Q 7You are the young man who was with your brother during the
night of this altercation or trouble? A Yes, sir.
Q Adolph, you have been convicted of several minor offenses,
aven't you? A Automobile ordinance.
. Q Violating the traffic laws and so on? A Yes, sir,
>3 Q Have you been convicted of any other offense other than
that? A No, sirt.
Q You live where? A 241 Bast 13th street.

Q On the night in question at about twelve o'olock; where

were you? A At the New Victoria 'Hotel in 47th street,
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Q And Broadway? A Between Broadway and Seventh avenue.

Q Where was your utandf Where did you conduct your business?
A At Luchow's restaurant, 1l4th street near Irving place,

Q How long have you been in that business? A Four years.

Q While you were at this restaurant who was with you?

A My brother.

Q Who else? A That is all,

Q What time did yow brother arrive there, if you know? A My

brother got there about twelve o'clock,

Q What did you do at the restaurant, did you see anything?
A To.

Q pid you drink? A I had a couple of glasses of beer.,

Q When you say a couple, you mean two? A Yes. -

Q Any more than that? A No, sir.

Q And your brother had what? A My brother had one.

Q One glass of beer? A Yes.

Q You stood there a short while, did you, and then left? A Yes.

Q Did you have your car there with you? A Yes, sir.

Q While you were in the regtaurant, where was your car?
A Outside by the door,

Q TFront of this Hotel? A Yes, sir,

Q What is this, a hotel and restaurant? A Hotel and
restaurant, yes, sir.

Q When you left in what way did you return downtown, by the

N\

L? A No, by machine.
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Q Did your brother accompany you? A My brother was there
with his machine,
Q You drove yours, and he was the chauffeur of his own? A Yes.
Q You went dowatown, did you? A Yes, sir.
Q Who led the way‘n; A I did.
Q where did you go? A Down to the Midtown Garage, West 12th
street. i
Q When you entered the garage did your brother follow? A Yes.
Q What did you do in the garage? A we left our cars and
went downstairs.
Q After leaving the garage where did you go? A Went to
l4th street and Seventh avenupe and took a car.
Q Took a crosstown car going which way? A East,
Q What was the purpose of your going east? A We were om
our way home.
Q And that car would come a short distance of your home?
A Yes, sir.
Q How far did you go on the car? A To Third avenue and
1l4th stregt. o
Q What madehyou éet off at that place? A I lived at 13th
street, between gsecond and Third avenue, and I suggested to my
brother if he wanted to eat something. He said no. I said,
"Ilets have some chop suey", and we went around to this chop
suey restaurant.

Q Thmt is this place in question where this unfortunmate
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occurrence took place? A Yes.

Q That is on Third avenue between l4th and 15th streets in

New York Ccity. ‘

Q And you and your brother went to the restaurant, did you?
A Yes, sir.

Q You went upstairs? A Yes, Y

Q What happened upstairs when you got there; were you mt‘od?
A We' sat down., I took off my hat and coat, My brother sat
down‘and I gave him the order. |

Q Order for what? A I ordered a charmaine for my brother,

and I ordered a peppered steak for myself.
Q To whom did you give the order? A To the deceased.

Q And after you had given the order to him did he return?

A Yes, sir.

f‘.‘

Q A short while afterwards? A Yes.

Q With the order as you gave it? A Yes,

Charmaine consists of what, soup? A It contains soup with
noodles and two pieces of yport, two pieces of chicken and half am
egg .

Q And that was brought in in a dish? A Yes.

Q Anything underneath the dish? A Underneath the dish is a
little plate to hold it.

Q Yours was brought in on what? A On a small dish with a
lit tle plate underneuth and a bowl of riece.

Q The deoeaud was the one that brought these thingl in to you?
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A Yes.

Q pid he have to walk any distance from the kitchen to your
table? A Yes, sir.

Q About how far? A About fifteen feet,

Q He placed them on the table, I take it? A Yes, sir.

Q What happened after that? A Well, after we got through
eating I went to the counter and said how much. He said, "Forty-
five cente." I gave him fifty cents. ‘He rang up the cash
register forty-five“cents and laid down a nickle. At that time
I asked my brother is he had a cigar, He said no. I said, "Have
you a cigarette?" He said, "No, I will buy a pack", so _l:\g
ordered a pack of cigarettes. He put down the ten cents and
this Chinaman handed him a pack of cigarettes. He opened them to
hand me one when the Chinaman picked up his ten cents and my
five. My brother said, "What are you sha.rging for them?® He said
"pifteen cente"., My brother said "It costs ten oents.‘ - He
said, "No, it costs fifteen cents all over." I said, "It costs
ten cents.® He said "It costs fifteen cents.”™ I said "I'll bet
you®, He said "I'll bet you." I said, "I will bet you $25.*

I laid $25 on the counter.

¢ What became of the cigarettes at that time? A He laid
them back on t);e counter,

Q Did you have a cigarette out of the box? A No.

Q Did you take the money back? A MMy brother todk his money

back.
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Q The ten cents and the five cente? A Yes.

Q And he gave him back the cigarettes? A Yes.

Q Then ydu said you would bet $257? A Yes. He said,
"Dirty money, dirty money." He said, "You Melican." So I
called him, I said, "You monkey, you wouldn't say that to me if
I was downstairs,

Q Wmat were the exact wards? A I said, "You would not say
that to me if I was downstairs or anybody else.® He got ex-
cited and tore off his apron and put his hat and coat on,

Q At that time where was his hat and coat? A Lying by the
counter.

Q He slipped them on? A Yes.

Q While he slipped them on what were you doing? A I was put-
ting on my coat.

$bin . 5
Q were you standing there or going out? A I was on my way out.

Q Where wer e the other two Chinamen? A One was by the
kitchen and one sitting at the table,

Q Were these words you had with the Chinamad in a loud tone?
A Yes. s

Q Did the other two Chinamen come up? A Yes. He said
something to the other two Chinamen, and they followed him,

Q You got into the hallway, then what? A They led me to
the door, and as I got down the steps this Chinaman kicked me
in the shin,

Q You showed a mark which was caused by coming in contact
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with your shin and the foot of one of the Chinamen? A Yes.

Q That bled, did it? A Yes.

Q Then what happened? A The other two Chinamen were in
back of him; they led me down the stairs and as we got to the
sidewalk, the first tlﬁng I was on the ground and the three
Chinamen on top of me. :

Q were they on the ground, standing up or lying\\dom? A Lying
on the ground.

Q What werethey doing? A Pushing me, kicking me, and every=
thing.

Q Then did your brother comé on the scene? A Yes,

Q What did your brother do? A I looked up and I seen my
brother push him off me, a kind of swinging. As I got up I
stanrted to run back and the other two Chinamen still had me and I
noticed my brother on the ground, just getting up when the ‘offie
cer had hold of him, '

Q Dpid you at any time see your brother leave you, turn around
and hit the Chinaman? A Not that I know of.

Q If he had done so, you would have seen him? A Yes.

Q This was all one general fight? A General mix-up a
general fight.

Q They struck you and you were striking back? A Yes.

Q pDo you recall where the Chinaman was picked up? A Which
Chinaman?

Q The Chinaman, the deceased? A Yes, sir,
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Q Whereabouts? A He was lying on the curb, right on the
sidewalk, at the curb.

MR, ALTER: Your witness.
P

CROSS RIAMI!!ATIAOH BY MR. mormmsé

Qv You never had any trouble with any of these Chinamen
before, had you# A No, sir.

‘Q Had you been in there before? A Yes, sir,

Q Did you ever have any trouble with Officer Peattie? A No..

Q pid you ever see him before that night, as far as you know?
A Yes, sir,

Q Ever talk to him? A Yes, sir.

Q And never had the slightest bit of trouble with him? A VNo,sir.

Q pid youever have any trouble with Of ficer Siegel? A Yes,sir.

Q He arrested you, or had youfined, three times for violate
ing the rules of the City Ordinmance respecting chauffeurs, did
he not? A Yes, sir,

Q You left the Victoria Hotel at w}n;t time? A Around a
quarter after twelve.

Q You got into the Chinese restaurant at what time? A Chi-
nese restaurant, about around a little after two o'clock,

Q Where wer e you all that time? A Where was I all that
time?

Q Yes. A I went over to the garage, left the cars and
waited for a car at gseventh avenue and l4th street.

Q It did not take very long to drive down from 47th street ,
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to 12th street in the cars, did it? A No, it took about twenty

minutes.,

Q It does not take very long to ride across l4th street from
Seventh avenue to Third avenue? A But they run every half hour.

Q Every half hour? A Yes, sir.

Q On 14th street? A Yes, dr,

Q I thought that was a very busy place., It has been said
there wé.e a car running back and forth every minute or two? A Onm

Third avenue, I am ta ]kiqg about the erosstown.

Q How long did you have to wait for a car? A We must have
waited about twenty minutes. ‘

Q You left the hotel a 1lit tlé after twelve? A Yes, sir.

Q@ You have accounted for forty minutes and there ar two
hours selapsed; tell me what you were doing the rest of the time,
the other hour and twenty minutes, A An hour and twenty
minutes--we went upstairs and we had something to eat.

Q You said you got in there a little after 2?2 A I said a
lit tle after two. I thought you asked me when we got out.

Q I asked you what time you got in? A I misunderstood yous

Q Do you want to change it now? A Yes.

Q Wmt do you want to say now?A We got in there about, it
must have been around twenty minutes of two going in there;
I thought you meant going out.

Q You were in there about  twenty minutes? A About twenty

minutes, yes.
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Q 8o that the fight on the sidewalk did not take place at
half past two as the of{icer said? A It was around between two
and half ;ist two; I could not recall the time,

Q Did yowr brother hit anybody at all that night? A well,
when I was on the ground and these Chinamen on, top of me, I kind
of looked up and seen my brother pulling, and naturally swinging
his hand, but I didn't know where it handed.

Q At that time you were on the sidewalk, were younot? A
Yes, sir.

| Q Were you close to the building, or in the middle of the side-
walk or near the street? A I was right in the middle of the street
right near the buildinge.
BY THE C(lJRﬁ

Q When you say the middle of the street what do you mean?
A- From the door of the entrance.

Q You mean the middle of the sidewalk? A Yes, sidewalk.

BY MR. BROTHERS:

Q That is the only place you saw your brother make any motion
toward any one? A ’fos, sir.

Q You remember seeing the Chinaman lying on the pavement,
don't yo# A I don't recall seeing him, I think a lady directed
the officers attentiom who had me.

Q Did you see him lying on t:m pavement in the street?

A At what time?

Q At any time., A Yes, sir,
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Q Where was he? A Iying on the sidewalk, near the gutter.

Q was he on the sidewalk or on the pavement? A where the

people walk; you call that the sidewalk, l!e~ns on the sidewalk.
Q Then you never saw him lying on the roadway at all? A No,sir.
Q Not once? A No, sir,
Q I suppose you were pretty badly battered up, weren't you?

A I was kicked. I was black and blue; my coat was ripped right

off me.
Q These three big Chinamen were on top of you and you were
c‘lown on the street? A Yes, sir,

Q They kicked you? A Yes, sir,

Q And pounded you? A Yes, sir.

Q And you were in pretty bad shape when they got through?

A I was in bad shape. I never was black and blue. My coat
was tore right off me.

Q Of course youmade a complaint at once to the policemen
when they came ,didn't you, that they had assaulted you? A I
could not say nothing, no, sir. |

Q You told the hgistrate’, I presume, all about your
injuries and showed him your torn coat, did you? A Yes, sir.

Q And you knew that Magistrate, didn't youw A Yes, sir,

Q The Magistrate didn't pay much attention to what you said,
did he?

MR, IRVY: Objected to.

THE COURT: objection sustained,

/

e
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Q pid the Magistrate say anything to you when you called his
attention to the black and blue mark?

MR LEVY: Objected to.
THE COURT: sustained.

Q You heard the Magistrate call  Officer giegel's attention
to a scratch on your brother's face? A Yes, sir,

Q Any one call the officer's attention to any bruises upon
you? A Yes, sir.

Q Who did? A -The Magistrate,

Q What's his name? A Magistrate McQuade.

Q What, did he say? A Measure that man's marks." I told
him he had one on my knee. He took me in his roan,‘and he
looked the one over in my knee.

Q were there any marks shown to you than the one you exhibif;d .
upon yow shin? A The only mark that was bleeding was on my
knee, I was kind of black and blue.

Q Whereabouts wer e you black and blue? A On the body.

Q Whereabouts on the body? A On the arm and breast,

Q Badly battered, were you? A Not badly,

Q Your coat was torn? A It was ripped right off me. I had
no coat going to the station house, it was torn right off me.

Q Was the cloth torn? A Yes, sir, ripped off,

Q You exhibited that in the Magistrate's Court, did you?
You showed it to the people there? A I did not have no coat.

It was ripped off me. I don't know what became of the coat.
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Q Was it the officer who ripped it off of you? A Wo.

Q While youwere trying to get away from him? A Fo.

Q were you trying to ;;n away? A No, sir. I was hollering
for protection, Even when the oficer had me the Chinaman
struck me in the face while the officer had me.

Q »id it make a gark on your face? A wo, sir, just caught
the side of my ear.

Q ghortly after the occurrence, do you remember you had gone
to talk with Mr, Deuel, who was Deputy Assistant District At torney
at that time? A Yes, sir,

Q That éd;versation took place between you and Deuel on Tues=-
day, November 2nd, did it not, do you rememberAthst? A Yes, sir
Q At the Fourth District Magistrate's Court, is that right?
A Yes, sir,
Q In the afternoon, is that right?°A Yes, sir.
Q You told him that yow name was Ad&lph Brall, a chauffeur?
A Yes, |
Q You said you lived at 247 Bast 13th street, is that right?
MR. LEVY: 1Is this anything 4&1ch contradicts his tes-
timony?
MR, BROTHERS: It is.
THE COURT: It is offered as being in contradiction,
As I understand the witness is being interrogated cone
_cerning the alleged inconsistent sta tement made by him on

a prior occasion.
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MR. LEVY: Then the atténtion of the witness, I re-

spectfully submit, should “g'e directed to the alleged
contradiction, the apocifil‘é"ata’t;ment.u
THE COURT: Yes.

Q You told Mr. Deuel who you were, didn't you? A Yes.

Q He told you who he was? A Yes, sir.

Q He told you that you‘did not have to talk if you did not
want to? A Yes.

Q And that if you did speak it might be used against you
when the case was brought to trial? A Yes, sir.

Q Then he asked you to tell what happened, is that right?
A Yes, sir.

Q And you told him? A Yes, sir,

Q The man who was killed was the man that youhad the trouble
with upstairs about the cigarettes? A Yes, sir.

Q That is the same man? A Yes, sir. : s

Q When you talked with Mr, Deuel a@bout the man with whom
you had the dispute about the cigarettes, you were referring to
the dead man, were you? A Yes, sir,

Q DO you remember you teld Mr. Deuel about the charge of
the cigarettes. I shall not read it all, You said, *"Yes, you
are talking this way up here, come downstairs®, did you say
that? A I said to him, "You monkey, you would not call me that
downstairs, or anybody else."

Q "So he came down and pushed me down stairs and the three of

/
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them all on top of me"™, you said that of course? A Yes.

Q\"So this one fellow happened to fall®, did you say that to
Mr, peuel? A "This one fellow happened to fall"?

Q Yes. A' I don't recall it.

Q "And the other two went at me and as they did the officer
came and as soon as the officer had hold of me he struck me in
the face", Did you say that to be Mr, peuel? A Yes.

Q Who struck you in the face? A This stout Chinaman,

Q I will read that sentence again: "Now, this one fellow hap~-
pened to fzll and the other two went at me, and as they did the
officer came and as soon as the officer had hold of me he struck m
in the face", Did you say that to Mr. Deuel? A I recall saying
that I was on the ground at the time and I had noticed one of them
fall, but I don't know who it was.

Q Did you say what I have read? A Wmt I can recall I said
ig when the officer had me he struck me,

Q Who struck you, the officer or the Chinaman? A The stout
Chinaman,

Q" Pid you say "Now, this one fellow ha.ppe.ned to fall"? A
Which one fellow?

Q That is what I don't know-»"So he came down". I
suppose that ie Ching Wung, ien't it?. A The three of them
came down,

Q Well, I will have to read it all again. I go back: "My

brother and I went up to have some chop suey, see, and after

Nttt

E
B.
-
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coming out my brother ordered a package of cigarettes, so he
laid down the money, and he opened them up, and he charged him
fifteen, and my brother said, 'What are you charging?' Ke said,
'"Thie is the right charge', and my brother said 'I'1ll bet you',
and I wanted to bet him and he said, 'That's dirty money, you
dirty Melican, see'., 'Dirty money', like that, so I said, 'Yes,
you are talking this way up here, come down stairs', so he came
down and pushed me down stairs and the three» of them on top ef
me . Now, this one fellow happened to fall and the other two
went at me and as they did the officer came and as soon as they
did the officer had hold of me he struck me in the face,"
pid you say all that to Mr. Deuell? A Yes, sir.

Q You claim now that the words "he struck me in the face"
referred to the stout chinaman and not to the officer?’A Yes,sir.
Q You remember saying this to Mr. Deuel, in answer to this
question of Mr., peuel's? P*When you got out on the landing and

started t;: go downstairs, just what happened", and did you
answer: "They pushed me and they all got atﬂ me and knocked me
down and thies fellow that got hurt he moved me and as he moved
he fell back, he ig a kind of a cripple, and I suppose he
couldn't hold himself., Where were you, on the stairs? A No,
down on the sidewa lk," Did you say that to Mr. Deuel on that
occasion? A I recall I did say tfnt.

Q "ll that true? A What I said there? A Yes, sir.

Q Dpid you say this: "Did you dtrike the Chinaman? A Never

struck one of them", did you say that? A Yes, sir.
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Q And this: "Q Did you see your bro ther strike the China=-

man? A No, sir, my boother never struck one of them there. My

brothc:r was on the street, One of them hit my dbrother on the
head with something." Did you say that to Mr, Deuel? A Yes,sir,

Q And that of course is true? A Yes, a;r. :

Q So that you didn't strike the (;hinanﬁn, did you? A No, sir.

Q And your brother did not strike them? A No, sir.

Q And your best recollection is that the Chinaman just fell
down of his own accord, is that it, he being cripple and was
not able to stand up? A No, sir.

Q Isn't that what you aaid;' "Arid as he moved he fell back,
he is a kind if a cripple, and I suppose he couldn't hold himself*,
is that what you mean?

MR, IEVY: The construction should be left to the
Jurye.
Question withdrawn.

@ Now, what did you mean when you spoke to Mr, Deuel,“"And as
he moved, he fell back, he is a kind of a cripple, and I supp.oso
he could not hold himself", what did you mean by that? A What
did I mean by that?

Q Yes. A pecause I seen him when he brought the stuff he
kind of moved it over that way (indicating).

Q You said "He fell back and I suppose he could not hold
himself, What did you mean by that? A I mean mn I was lying

on the ground, the three of them on top of me, my brother
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started to pull him off. I imagine he fell back. |
VQ You think it was then he fell back and cracked his skull?
A Yes,
Q So that he must have been lying on the sidewalk at that time?
A Yes, sir, :
Q Wwhere was he when you saw him? A On the aidc’lk.
Q With his glasses broken? A I don't know.
Q Did yousee the officers picking up the pieces of glass,
and the gold rim of the eye-glasses from the pavement? A No,sir.
Q You didn't see that? A No, sir.
Q well, where were you at that time? A The officer Mdime in
his gands.
Q You are sureyu didn't see L\&wig swing the blow and
strike the Chinaman in the face? A No, sir .
Q Nobody did that as far as you could see? A No, sir,
Q Wmt was your idea in laying down $25 in front of this
Chinaman waiter, betting him that much money on the price of
a pack of cigarettes? A He insisted, saying they were fifteen
cents all over, I said, "I'1ll bet youw® I put down the money
showing I wanted to make good what I said.
Q How did you expect to make good by doing that? A He
insisted upon saying they Qem' fifteen cents, and I wanted to
show him they were ten cents.

Q Were you getting angry about it? A No, sir,

Q By dieplaying $25 in a chop suey place? A Naturally when
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he said, "I bet you", I laid it up.

Q Were you trying to impress the Chinaman that you had a lot
of money with you? A No, sir.

Q When he called you a son-of-ae«bitch that didn't affect you
at all, I suppose? A Yes, sir, it did.

Q Did it make you a little angry? A A little, yes, sir.

Q You practically invited him out on the sidewalk? A I
didn't practically. I said, "You monkey, you would not call me
or anybody else that if I was downstairs."

Q when you got dévnsta.:lrs ontoc the sidewalk do you remember
you and your brother started to walk down towards your house
z:.nd that these two Chinamen, Lee and Lum Dhu, seéing you walking
away, they called ycu out of your name, do you remember that,
and you turned around and went for them? A No, sir,

Q If they had called youa son-~of-a=bitch on the sidewalk
you would have hit them, wouldn't you? A Yes.

MR, IEVY: Objected to,
THE COURT: ObJjection sustained.

Q That is what you meant when you told Chung Wing upstaire
that he would not dare say that to you dowmstairs?

MR. IEVY: objected to.
THE COURT: I think you have been all over that,
Mr. Brothers.

MR, IEVY: That is all. i)
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GEORGE MARTIN LEVY, (Freeport, Tong Island)
a witness called on behalf of the def endant, being first duly
sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. IEVY:

-

Q What is your occupation, Mr, Tevy? A A lawyer.

Q You have been admitted to the Bar how long? A Since
October, 1909,

Q 'You practiced in Nassau County? A Yes, sir,

Q And yours is a general practice there? A Yes, sir.

Q Both civil and eriminal? A Yes, sir,

Q You have lived in Freeport how long? A Twenty-five yéiro.

Q Do you know the defendant? A I do.

Q How long have you known him? A Maybe between two and three
years.

Q Did you know him when he lived in Freeport? A Yes.

Q And since he took his place at Hempstead? A Yes, sir.

Q Do yocu know what his reputation is for peacefulness and
veracity? A well, at Freeport I do.

Q What ie it? A Very peacéful ‘and quiet,

MR, IEVY: That is all,

MR . BROTHERS: No question.

ROLAND N, L AMB, (Freeport, Long Island) called as &
witness on behalf of the defendant, being first duly sworn,
testified as follows:

DIRECT EXANINATION BY MR, IEVY:

\
——




159
Q Mr, Iamb, what is your occupation? A My occupation,

I am manufacturer of ice, and in the coal business. I am

president of 'the village of Freeport.

Q You have been president of thqt' village how long? A Two -
years.

Q Rave you occupied other official positions? A No, sir.

Q Do you know this defendant? A I do.

Q How long have you known him? A Two years.

Q Do you know others who know him? A Yes, sir.

Q He .has, been under your observation? A Yes, sir,
Q considerably? A Yes, sir.

Q@ Do you know what his reputation is in the community in
which he lived for peaceableness and truthfulness? A Yes, s=ir,
Q What was it? A The man bore a very good reputation and

it ‘was with considerable surprise.
' MR. BROTHIRS: I obJect;)to that,
THE COURT: He bore a good reputation,
Q Both for peacefulness and truthfulness? A Yes, sir.
MR. IEVY: You can examine, Mr, Brothers.

MR, BROTHFRS: No question.

FRANK J. DAVIDSOTN, (500 West 14th street) a witness
called on behalf of the defendant, being first duly sworn,
testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. IBVY’

Q Mr, pavidscn, what is your occupation? A Hotel and
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restaurant.

Q What hotel and restawant? A Strand Hotel.

Q 71ocated where? A 500 West l4th street.

Q You lave been in the hotel business how many years? A Thire
ty-five years.

Q Do you know the defendant?/A Yes, sir.

Q }lof long have you known him?. A About eight years.

Q Do you know others that know him? A Yes, sir.

Q 1O you know what hies reputation is for truthfulness and

- peacefulness? A I never seen nothing wrong with the man at

all,

Q DO you know whether it is good or bad? A Good.

MR, IEVY: You may examine.

MR, BROTHERS: No question.

SAMUETL VORZIXER (1610 Lexington avenue) called
as a witness on behalf of the defendant, being first duly aiorn,
testified as follows:
DIREGT EXAMINATION BY MR, LEVY:

Q Mr. Vorzimer ,what is your business? A ‘Auctioneer.
You are in business where? A 130 East l1l4th street,
How long have you been in business? A Twenty-five years.
Do you know this def endant? A I do.
How long have you known him? A About ten years.

DO you know others who know him? A Yes, sir,

& © © o © ©

Know what his reputation is for truthfulness-and peaces<




fulness? A Very good.
MR, IEVY: That is all,
m.ﬂnnwms: No questions.
MR, IEVY: The defendant rests youf Honor.
MR, IROTHERB; The People re?t.
MR, IEVY: Yqur Honor, I desire to place upon the
record the renewal of the motion made upon the close of the
People's case upon the grounds as stated. i
THE COURT: Motion.denied.
MR. IEVY: BRBxception, if you please.
MR. IEVY: May it please your Honor, I a9 perfectly
willing to send this case to the jury upon your Honor's
charge, and vwithout summation.
MR, BROTHERS: I prefer to address the jury.
THE COURI': I think you }grqu,e/tter sum up the case,

(Mr. ILevy sums up to the jury at 11:15 a. m.)

(Mr. Brothers sums up to the jury at 12325 pe. m.)

THE COURT: I will say I will let the case go to the jury

on manslaughter in the second degree,

le: BROTHERS: Yes, I think it is right.

THE COURT: I will charge you gentlemen after recess.
You are adrmonished not to converse arong youwrselves on any
subject connected with the trial, or form or express any
opinion thereon until the same is submitted to you, The

Court takes a recess until quarter past two.

(Whereupon at 1 p. m., the court takes a recess until
1:45 o'clock p. m.)
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